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“I resolved that if I could save but one woman, my life would have been well lived.” 
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A LIFE OF SERVICE: 

REMEMBERING THE TOMBS ANGEL 

 
By John F. Werner & Robert C. Meade, Jr. 

Lately, notice has finally been taken of the scandalous paucity of monuments in the public 

parks, squares and buildings of our country and of New York City that pay tribute to women 

deserving of recognition. Until recently, for example, in all of Central Park there were no statues 

honoring real women, only several commemorating fictional ones, and there were only five statues 

in honor of historical women in the parks and public squares throughout the whole of New York 

City.1 It is remarkable indeed, then, that almost 120 years ago, in 1904, a tribute in marble and 

bronze was erected in an important public building in lower Manhattan in honor of Rebecca 

Salome Foster for her many years of devoted, selfless attention to the inmates of the original 

Tombs Prison, their families, and other poor and unfortunate souls, many of them immigrants, 

action that earned her during her life the sobriquet the “Tombs Angel.” Her story, as we shall see, 

had been, as was her monument, largely forgotten. This is an injustice that this article hopes to 

correct. 

 

THE LIFE AND WORK OF REBECCA SALOME FOSTER 

1. The Backgrounds of Rebecca and John A. Foster 

Not a great deal is known about Mrs. Foster’s early life. She was born in 1848 into the 

large family of John Howard Elliott, a native of Great Britain who worked as a merchant, and 
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Margaret Adele (Blue) Elliott of Mobile, Alabama. Rebecca was one of nine children, mostly 

daughters (although, as was unfortunately all too common for the time, not all may have survived 

into adulthood).2 In 1850, the Elliott family was living in New Orleans. By 1860, the family had 

moved to New York City. The Elliotts relocated to Westchester County, or at least were recorded 

as living there in the summer of 1860, possibly as an escape from the summer weather of the City.3 

On February 28, 1865, in Calvary Episcopal Church, 277 Park Avenue South at 21st Street 

in the Gramercy Park neighborhood of Manhattan, Rebecca married John Armstrong Foster. 

John Foster was born in Schoharie County, 

New York, in 1833, the son of a physician who 

practiced in New York City for over 50 years.4 John 

Foster served in the Civil War for a period and then, 

in 1862, when he was only 29, he took part in the 

raising of the 175th Regiment, New York State 

Volunteers, an infantry regiment, and served as a Lt. 

Colonel. Among other things, the regiment was 

engaged in operations in Louisiana and, in 1863, in 

the siege and assault against Port Hudson, the success 

of which, after the taking of Vicksburg, freed the 

Mississippi River for the Union. In this action the 

regiment’s commanding officer was killed and 

Foster was promoted to Colonel.5 In 1864, the regiment participated in General Sheridan’s 

Shenandoah Valley Campaign.6 

General John A. Foster, circa 1861. Civil War 

Photographs, 1861-1865, Library of Congress, Prints 

& Photographs Division, LC-B813- 1796 C. 
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Foster was an attorney. In early 1864, he was assigned to the Bureau of Military Justice in 

the War Department in Washington, which was presided over by the Judge Advocate General, 

General Joseph Holt.7 Among the duties of the Judge Advocate General’s office was to administer 

military justice, including the prosecution of courts martial.8 In or about February 1865, Colonel 

Foster served on, or acted as prosecutor in matters before, a commission that adjudicated court 

martial proceedings in Philadelphia, from which he may have taken some time off to head north 

to get married. This commission was chaired by the distinguished career Army officer, West Point 

graduate, and veteran of Fort Sumter, Bull Run, Antietam, Fredericksburg, and Gettysburg, Major 

General Abner Doubleday of upstate New York.9 

Two days after the assassination of President 

Lincoln, Secretary of War Edwin Stanton designated 

three officers from the War Department to take 

leading roles in the investigation of the conspiracy 

that led to the crime, even while the military and 

detectives were searching for the conspirators and 

John Wilkes Booth was being pursued in Virginia. 

Colonel Foster was one of these officers.10 He 

collected evidence, analyzed it, considered the 

possible culpability of witnesses and suspects, 

developed a theory of the case, directed the 

incarceration of suspects11 and performed other 

activities to build the case. Secretary Stanton also 

designated a Judge Advocate from the west, Colonel 

Union General John Armstrong Foster in uniform, c. 

1861. Civil war photographs, 1861-1865, Library of 

Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-

cwpb-05319. 
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Henry L. Burnett, to oversee preparation of the case for trial and ordered him to Washington to 

work directly under General Holt.12 Colonel Foster provided evidence and prepared reports for 

Colonel Burnett in which, among other things, he described the actions of Booth, George Atzerodt, 

and other suspected conspirators on the day and night of the assassination, at Ford’s Theater and 

elsewhere in Washington and environs, and in the days afterward.13 General Holt was the lead 

prosecutor at the trial of the Lincoln conspirators before a military commission and Colonel 

Burnett was his principal deputy at the trial.14 

Foster officially left the Army in August 1865 and was brevetted as a Brigadier General in 

recognition of his distinguished service.15 The Library of Congress has photographs of Foster, 

including in uniform, which are reproduced in this article, that apparently were taken by Mathew 

Brady or his assistants. 

After the war, John Foster practiced law in New York City. He served for a time as an 

Assistant United States Attorney, was active in the Republican Party,16 and was the senior member 

of a law firm, Foster, Glassey & Thomas, which had offices at 229 Broadway in Manhattan.17 

Rebecca Foster would on occasion assist him with his practice, including when he was appearing 

in court. The fact that her husband earned his living in the legal world directly contributed to the 

kind of work that Mrs. Foster chose to do. 
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Calvary Church played a central role in 

Mrs. Foster’s life and in the work she undertook 

on behalf of persons accused and convicted of 

crime, their families, and other outcasts. As she 

had done, her two daughters, Marie Louise and 

Jeanette, married at Calvary Church, in 1892 and 

1893, respectively.18 Mrs. Foster was, it appears, 

always a giving person. In 1878, for instance, she 

was the principal organizer of a fair to raise 

money for charity in New York City.19 It seems 

that her good works on behalf of prisoners arose 

out of her church associations and were inspired 

by the Anglican missionary movement, which 

exerted significant influence in the last half of the 

19th century. Of course, Christian missionaries, Catholic and Protestant, traveled to the far ends 

of the earth during those years and after, but they ministered locally as well. Many members of the 

laity sought to put their religious and ethical principles into action in the world by helping the poor 

of the cities. These workers conducted their efforts as extensions of their churches, in the 

settlement house movement of that time,20 and in independent ventures. 

An important spiritual advisor to Mrs. Foster was Rev. Henry Y. Satterlee (1843-1908), 

who from 1882 until 1896 was the rector of Calvary Church. During those years, Rev. Satterlee 

was active in mission work to the masses of poor then living on the city’s Lower East Side. In 

1896, Rev. Satterlee was named the first Episcopal Bishop of Washington, D.C., but he maintained 

Calvary Episcopal Church, where the Fosters wed and 

where much of Mrs. Foster’s work was centered, c. 1900. 

Collection of the New-York Historical Society. 
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many of his associations in New York City, including that with Mrs. Foster. Rev. Satterlee is 

credited with founding the Cathedral Church of St. Peter and St. Paul, more commonly known as 

the National Cathedral, acquiring the property on which the Cathedral was built and overseeing its 

early construction. He performed the marriage ceremony for both of Mrs. Foster’s daughters at 

Calvary.21 

The Rev. Mr. Satterlee was a powerful advocate for his faith and recruited many men and 

women to his congregation.22 The power of his word was forcefully brought home to Mrs. Foster 

at a time of severe crisis in her life. Mrs. Foster had suffered a great tragedy in 1867, when her 

daughter, Lomie Elliott, died at age two. The grief this disaster brought on was compounded later, 

in 1878, when her only son, John Armstrong, died at age five.23 The Rev. Mr. Satterlee’s 

biographer wrote of Mrs. Foster: 

Her faith staggered and she drifted out into the gloom of unbelief. 

She was persuaded to see Dr. Satterlee. With his wise and 

understanding sympathy he threw a ray of hope into her life. She 

began to attend church to hear him preach. He invited her to come to 

his Monday meeting of workers among the poor. By degrees her faith 

reasserted itself as an active force impelling her to service.24 

 

These events transformed Mrs. Foster’s life and appear to have helped greatly to set her on the 

course she was to follow for the whole of her life thereafter.25 

Her life of service, then, was an outgrowth of her religious faith and her response to 

hardship and loss. She understood well what it means to suffer, and she felt kinship with, and 

compassion and sympathy for, others who had endured suffering too, including those, such as the 

vast numbers of immigrants on the Lower East Side, whose circumstances were decidedly different 

from her own. And yet, there was more behind her life’s work even than these things. She 

undertook her work also as a reflection of her gratitude for what life had given to her, because, she 
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said, “at that time I and my family had everything to be thankful for in the world …”26  At a certain 

point, she said, “I resolved that if I could save but one woman, my life would have been well 

lived.”27 

After her work began, however, the life of her family took another tragic turn. In time, 

General Foster came to practice law alone because, it appears, “[h]e had contracted habits which 

proved his professional and social ruin, and he could no longer be tolerated by his partners … [H]is 

desire for drink gradually lost him nearly all his friends.”28 It was reported that he had become 

mentally irresponsible by 1887.  The following year, without reason, he abandoned his family “and 

wandered about aimlessly, lodging at haphazard.”29 In September 1889, he met his former orderly 

from the army, who gave him shelter in a two-story frame building behind his insurance office on 

upper Broadway. The orderly let him sleep on chairs covered with an army blanket as there was 

no bed in the place. Foster died alone in that space in February 1890.30 Mrs. Foster had taken to 

dressing in black after he had abandoned the family. Sadly, a reporter noted, she was thus “fitly 

attired yesterday when she went to the office where her husband’s body lay.”31 She brought a large 

bouquet of flowers with her. When speaking with the coroner, “she fainted away, and excited much 

sympathy.”32 General Foster was only 57 years old.  Mrs. Foster applied for a pension as the widow 

of a Union soldier.33 
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2. New York City in the Late 19th Century 

The world in which Mrs. 

Foster pursued her vocation was 

one that had undergone, and 

was still in the midst of, 

profound and dramatic changes. 

In 1800, the population of the 

United States was 5,308,483 

and that of New York State 

589,051.34 There were only 

60,515 inhabitants of New York 

County in that year.35 In the 

years that followed, the United States underwent substantial industrialization, particularly in the 

North. In the aftermath of upheavals in Europe in and around 1848 and the Great Famine in Ireland, 

and in the decades after the Civil War, vast waves of immigrants came to the United States. By 

1850, there were 3,097,394 persons resident in New York State.36 Ten years later, the population 

of New York City had grown to 813,669, of whom 47 % were immigrants.37 By 1900, the 

population of Manhattan had ballooned to 2,050,600,38 and of these, 850,884 were foreign-born.39 

Many of these immigrants were impoverished and lacked skill in English. As we note 

further later, a large number lived in shabby and unhealthy tenements in crowded districts in 

Manhattan. Among the byproducts of this harsh environment were chronic poverty, desperation, 

and crime, which evils affected large numbers of persons whom Mrs. Foster encountered in her 

work. 

A painting of Collect Pond attributed to Archibald Robertson, 1798. The Tombs 

Prison was built on a portion of the pond site beginning in 1835. Metropolitan 

Museum of Art, The Edward W. C. Arnold Collection of New York Prints, 

Maps, and Pictures, Bequest of Edward W. C. Arnold, 1954, 54.90.168. 
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As we will see, Mrs. 

Foster was an extraordinary 

woman in many respects, 

whether judged by the standards 

of her time or even our own. One 

thing that certainly set her apart 

from most other women of her 

day is that she became fully 

occupied by her work, so that it 

truly became for her a vocation 

(even though, as we shall note, 

she was not paid). Some women of means and education were certainly striking out into the world 

in various ways in the second half of the nineteenth century, examples of which can be found in 

the first Women’s Rights Convention at Seneca Falls, New York (1848), with its famous 

Declaration of Sentiments;40 the Woman’s Christian Temperance Union, which was founded in 

Cleveland, Ohio in 1874, had over 200,000 members by 1892, and was the largest and most 

influential women’s organization that had existed until that time;41 women’s clubs and the 

Chautauqua Movement;42 and the women’s suffrage movement, which culminated in the 19th 

Amendment to the United States Constitution extending to women the right to vote (1920). But at 

the time Mrs. Foster was doing her work, very few women of her station were leaving their homes 

for outside employment. In the United States in 1900, four out of five women aged 16 and over 

did not work outside the home.43 Those who did often lacked the financial means to do otherwise 

and were commonly limited to occupations as teachers, nurses and the like, and frequently were 

Mulberry Bend, a part of the notorious Five Points neighborhood, NYC, 

photographed by Jacob Riis, c. 1890. Riis’ photographs illustrate the harsh 

conditions of life in the tenements, the social consequences of which Mrs. Foster 

sought to alleviate. Courtesy of the Preus Museum, NMFF.003400. 
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compelled to work by serious, even dire economic necessity, such as recent immigrants, widows 

in a lower economic class, etc. Employment “in the well-to-do classes of society [was] 

exceptional.”44 

And of all those who did work, very few indeed voluntarily chose to shoulder the burdens 

Mrs. Foster assumed and engage in employment in the challenging environments in which she 

spent her days. 

 

3. How Mrs. Foster’s Work Began 

The specific impetus for Mrs. Foster’s work on behalf of prisoners and their families came 

about by the purest chance in 1884.45 According to Rev. John Josiah Munro, a one-time chaplain 

of the Tombs Prison, who heard the story directly from Mrs. Foster, a story the gist of which she 

herself confirmed on other occasions,46 her laundress came to her asking for help after the woman’s 

young son had been arrested for a theft of which he claimed he was innocent. General Foster agreed 

to defend the boy, but on the day the case was to be heard, he was too ill to appear. He sent Mrs. 

Foster with a note requesting an adjournment. When Mrs. Foster reached the court, the case was 

already on, and when an opportunity presented itself, she made a powerful plea on behalf of the 

boy. The judge presiding was greatly impressed by Mrs. Foster and he discharged the boy. The 

judge apparently then called Mrs. Foster’s attention to the case of a young, homeless girl who had 

been arrested that day for solicitation. Evidently reluctant to sentence the girl to incarceration, the 

judge asked Mrs. Foster to investigate the girl’s story before he took final action. Mrs. Foster 

investigated the case, reported her findings to the court, and had the girl paroled into her own 
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custody. She then returned the girl to her home in another part of the country. The girl was thus 

saved from what would almost surely have been a life of wretchedness.47 

Thus, Mrs. Foster found her calling. The appearance in court that day proved not an isolated 

instance, but an unforeseen opportunity for Mrs. Foster to do some good. She was led to make 

herself available to repeat the work she had done in that first case and to convince the judges that 

in doing so she could be of help to the court and the administration of justice and to the accused.  

From that time on, for many years thereafter, Mrs. Foster frequented the courthouses, the Tombs 

Prison, and its environs. That judge and other members of the bench often asked Mrs. Foster to 

assist them in discerning the backgrounds of the defendants before them, information which was 

then otherwise unavailable to the judges as probation officers did not exist in those days. Very 

often the defendants with respect to whom the judges sought information from her were young 

girls and women, but there were boys too. When needed she would help men as well. 

William T. Jerome, a Judge of the Court of Special Sessions from 1895-1901 and later 

(1902-1909) the District Attorney of New York County, who was a figure of considerable 

prominence in those days (his cousin was Jennie Jerome, the mother of Winston Churchill), knew 

Mrs. Foster very well. “Her value to the court,” he emphasized, “… was in the fact that she had 

rare good judgment …”48 

A woman would be brought up to the bar, plead guilty, and be 

remanded. We would ask Mrs. Foster to look into the case and report 

to us. She would find out where the woman worked -- what her life 

was, what her interests were, who her people were, what her 

surroundings had been, how she came to get into this trouble …49 

 

Judge Jerome added that Mrs. Foster’s “absolute sincerity and purity of motive impressed 

[themselves] upon every one and led them to trust her.”50 “The judges trusted her judgment …”51 
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So it came to be that “[f]or many years it [was not] an infrequent occurrence for the presiding 

justice in one of the city’s criminal courts to call from the bench, ‘Is Mrs. Foster in the room?’”52 

 

4. What Mrs. Foster Did for Prisoners, Their Families, the Courts, and Others 

After the accidental commencement of her career, Mrs. Foster’s activities quickly 

expanded beyond the provision of information to the judges upon request about the background 

and actions of the defendant, beyond what might be characterized using current terminology as a 

kind of oral pre-sentence report. Indeed, we see the germ of this growth in Mrs. Foster’s actions 

in the very first case she had. In addition to providing the judges with background information on 

defendants, she also came to offer in appropriate cases means of supervision of and assistance to 

the defendants as an alternative to incarceration or perhaps after the completion of an abbreviated 

sentence. Judge Jerome said: 

[F]requently, before the prisoner was convicted, [Mrs. Foster] 

would make an investigation, and if judgment was suspended she 

would, especially in the case of young women, take them into her 

charge, procure situations for them, and exercise a general 

supervision over them for a considerable time, helping them wisely.  

She had a little place, up somewhere on the Sound, where she took 

some of these. For others she would procure lodgings, and 

frequently, when a woman was sentenced and sent to prison, she 

would look out for her children; and where men were sentenced she 

would look out for their wives, procure means to help them -- give 

them food and clothing, procure work for them.53 

 

What Mrs. Foster did was to provide the court, in cases that she judged to be suitable and 

where she demonstrated that suitability to the court, a way to sentence defendants that would not 

be unduly harsh and punitive, but that rather could, while protecting society, provide a chance that 

the defendant could be induced to forgo or abandon a life of crime. Without the information Mrs. 
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Foster made available and the steps she took in suitable cases to offer a realistic pathway to a better 

life to the defendant, the court might have been forced to impose on defendants penalties that were 

too severe: as in that first case, the judge might recognize that the options available could be too 

hard upon the defendant, but, without Mrs. Foster’s help, lack a mechanism to tailor the sentence 

to the real equities of the situation. Mrs. Foster became an advocate, in suitable cases, for 

alternatives to incarceration and for the rehabilitation of defendants. Mrs. Foster’s approach was 

innovative and visionary, prefiguring the rehabilitative model of penology that became widespread 

in the decades after she had completed her work. 

Mrs. Foster became in a short 

progression a one-person combination of 

social services agency, probation office, 

parole office, and legal aid society working on 

behalf of the court and the accused and those 

who had been convicted, as well as their 

families -- and, of course, just as is the case 

today, the incarceration of a family member 

who had been bringing in income to sustain the 

family would be a catastrophe for the entire 

family -- this at a time when government 

services for the poor were either non-existent 

or rudimentary, and private, non-profit and 

charitable endeavors, though growing, were 

far less extensive than they are today. The Legal Aid Society of New York, for instance, was 

The backyard of a tenement, where laundry is drying and 

children and adults are outside, in the Five Points 

neighborhood, NYC, photographed by Jacob Riis, c. 1890. 

Courtesy of the Preus Museum, NMFF.002171. 



16 
 

established in 1876 to provide legal assistance to low-income German immigrants; its remit 

expanded to the provision of legal assistance to all in need only in 1896.54 With the great influx of 

immigrants in those days, this was also a time in which many of those with whom Mrs. Foster 

came into contact lived in very precarious circumstances, when not much error or misjudgment 

was required to cast a person and his or her family into dire economic trouble. In part, Mrs. Foster’s 

work presaged the role of professional probation officers, who were only introduced in New York 

pursuant to legislation after 1900.55 Thus, the judges came to depend upon Mrs. Foster not only 

for information about the backgrounds of defendants, but also for guidance about and assistance 

with possible placements for the defendant outside of prison, arranged and undertaken by Mrs. 

Foster, that might facilitate the prisoner’s reclamation. 

Meticulous, energetic, and fair investigation of the facts, a willingness to believe where 

warranted in the accused’s potential for reclamation, and the development of concrete measures 

that could be taken to assist the defendant to turn away from crime were central to Mrs. Foster’s 

work, as was noted by a friend of hers: 

She makes such careful and thorough investigation of every case she 

undertakes to help, that she can often present facts that would be 

otherwise entirely unknown to judge and jury … Very often, after 

the trial of a woman or young girl, the judge gives her, either under 

suspended sentence, or without sentence, into Mrs. Foster’s custody, 

when she is immediately taken to some safe temporary shelter, from 

which she can either find work or be sent to her home.56 

 

Two accounts described her activities as follows: 

She visited the courts almost daily, and visited the cells of the 

women prisoners whenever there was hope of doing good. There 

were times when the justices doubted her wisdom and feared that 

her womanly sympathy would overbalance her judgement. Then 

detectives were sent to supplement her investigations, but the fact 

that the court continued to appeal to her for help and that the Justices 
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of the criminal courts welcomed her aid, proves that such fears were 

groundless. The quiet little woman … came… to be regarded by 

justices and prisoners alike as a veritable sunbeam amid murky 

courts and prison surroundings.57 

*                      *                      * 

[The prison work of] Mrs. Foster began with some casual visits to the 

Tombs, with no thought that so many of the later years of her life would be 

spent in that building and in this work of rescue … Though there was no 

probation law in operation at that time, she practically fulfilled all the duties 

of such officer. She secured the confidence of prison officials and of the 

judges. She was intrusted by the latter with the investigation of cases, 

mainly of girls and women committed for various offences. The greatest 

reliance was placed in her judgment, and under the power of the judges to 

suspend sentence, many cases were practically placed in her custody. She 

gave freely of her money as of her time and strength to help needy 

prisoners.58 

 

Mrs. Foster did not merely make herself available to the court when called upon, but often 

initiated applications to the court to provide assistance to the defendant. Thus, she became an 

advocate for accused persons who, in her judgment, were open to being helped, which was a 

groundbreaking role for a woman at a time when there were very few women attorneys in the 

United States. A reporter wrote in 1891 that “[i]f she steps forward and asks the Justice to release 

the woman or to commit her to such or such an asylum or retreat, her request is pretty sure to be 

granted, for her opinion is respected.”59 Thus, we find, for example, the case of Jennie Purcell, 

who was convicted of grand larceny. When the judge came to sentence her, he said the following: 

“You have a bad record on the Bowery. I fear it is impossible for you to reform. But Mrs. Foster 

tells me she will care for you, so I will let you go.”60 And: 

-- Mrs. Foster appealed to the court in favor of Lucy Davis, who had been charged, along 

with another girl, both of them from Mott Street, with abduction. Mrs. Foster found that Davis had 
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a respectable sister residing in the city, who agreed to take her in. The court discharged Davis, and 

the other girl as well.61 

-- Mrs. Foster spoke up in court in favor of Clara Marks, who had run away from her home 

in New Haven and been picked up in New York after she had been deserted by a man who had 

promised to marry her. At the request of her parents, the girl was sent to a reformatory for six 

months; Mrs. Foster accompanied her there.62 

-- Mrs. Foster spoke to the court in favor of a young girl who had been charged with 

shoplifting two pairs of cuff buttons, a first offense. The court suspended sentence and the girl was 

released.63 

Thus, it was, thanks to Mrs. Foster, for very many. 

Mrs. Foster considered her work, in cooperation with the judges, as that of “encouraging 

the discouraged, helping the families of men sent to prison, getting work for those who are 

discharged and looking after girls and women whose sentences have been suspended, and for 

whom she is made responsible by the justices …”64 

Mrs. Foster felt a particular concern for young girls and women who had never previously 

been in trouble with the law. She recognized that a first offense, or an accusation thereof, was a 

decisive moment for the girl or woman, that her entire future life could be determined for ill or 

good by how she was treated by the system of justice at that point. Such an accusation or offense 

constituted a grave danger, but also presented a great opportunity for permanent reclamation; if 

the opportunity were not seized, the life of the girl or woman could easily be destroyed forever in 

hopeless crime and degradation. 
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Her object is to soften every evil-minded woman’s heart, and to have 

her so disposed of that the influences around her will be for the best.  

There is no woman so depraved that Mrs. Foster will not attempt to 

save her. What she regards as her special mission, however, is the 

influencing of women who are involved with the law for the first 

time and who therefore stand in a very critical position. 

A first arrest, Mrs. Foster believes, is often the turning point of a 

woman’s career.  She may not have been bad before, only foolish, 

careless, reckless, or unfortunate, but now she may go down. But 

taken in time, here in her trouble, when she most needs a friend, she 

may be switched upon the right track for good and all.65 

 

Although, as we have noted, her religious faith provided an inspiration and a foundation 

for her efforts, Mrs. Foster’s goal was secular, not the conversion of souls. Mrs. Foster extended 

assistance without any regard to the religious orientation, if any, of the person she aided and 

without using her aid as an occasion to proselytize on behalf of her faith.66 The District Attorney 

stated that “[t]o all, Jews and Christians and those of no faith, she extends a helping hand.”67 The 

Rev. Mr. Munro wrote that she would “help everyone in time of need, regardless of creed, color 

or race.”68 

The infamous Tombs 

Prison -- why it was infamous 

we explain later -- was the 

principal situs of her work. 

“The prisoners from all the 

police courts, if held for trial, 

eventually come to the Tombs 

prison, so this is naturally her 

base of operations… Even the 

jailers in the prisons attached to 

Police Headquarters, Mulberry Street, circa 1870. Published in Manual of the 

Corporation of the City of New York 1868 complied by Joseph Shannon (1869). 
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the police courts send to the Tombs for Mrs. Foster sometimes when they have unmanageable 

women in their care whom they think she would like to see.”69 She also worked in the Court of 

Special Sessions and other courts, where she would make her applications and reports to the judges 

presiding over cases of interest to her and to the court.70 

In order to gather facts for her investigations and identify candidates for release without 

sentence or after a suspended or reduced sentence and placement into her custody, Mrs. Foster 

spent much time in the prison with the accused, inquiring into their backgrounds and providing 

encouragement. She also collected information about the financial condition of each accused’s 

family and would extend financial assistance to the family when needed (it often was). She would 

provide food, clothing, travel expenses, shoes, financial aid, and other assistance to the defendants 

and their families. She was, Chaplain Munro wrote, “a very charitable lady, and in course of a year 

gave away much money, clothing, shoes and railroad tickets and meals, to hundreds of men and 

women as they came out of prison.”71 Frequently, she would attend legal proceedings as the friend 

of the defendant. 

Mrs. Foster paid close attention to obtaining decent clothing for the prisoners whom she 

helped. “Many of those arrested are innocent of the crime charged,” she said, “yet a ragged, dirty 

boy looks more likely to be guilty than innocent, and the clean clothing with which I am able to 

supply him … may make all the difference between a favorable and an unfavorable impression on 

the Court. Many a young girl, too, has been saved from dropping into degradation by the gift of 

neat clothing that enabled her to look for work.”72 

Another report described her work in this way: 

She worked especially among the women prisoners at the Tombs, 

giving them advice, questioning them, and, where she found worthy 
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cases, appealing to magistrates in their behalf. She was often 

instrumental in gaining for those for whom she recommended 

judicial mercy release from custody and a new start in life. She 

visited police courts, and was known and trusted by many 

magistrates, who treated her with great courtesy …  Because of the 

character of the woman, it has been said that nine times out of ten if 

she spoke to a magistrate in a prisoner’s behalf the latter would be 

discharged.73 

 

Mrs. Foster was in the Tombs so often -- “every morning, regular as clockwork,” according 

to the Sheriff74 -- that she became a fixture of the place. 

In the Tombs prison Mrs. Foster has always had as much freedom 

as the Warden himself. She is known to every employee in the place 

and goes in and out whenever she pleases. Matrons and keepers 

stand ready always to do anything they can for her, and as a result 

she is able to do a kind of work among the unfortunates confined 

there that would be impossible did she not possess the absolute 

confidence of the authorities. 

Mrs. Foster sometimes makes as many as twenty visits in a day to 

the prison, and seldom falls below five. Every morning regularly she 

makes an early call to find out what new cases have come in, and 

whether among the newcomers there is anybody to whom she can 

be of use. It isn’t necessary for her to consult the prison books to 

find out what she wants to know. The keepers and matrons keep 

their eyes wide open for cases for her, and she is in possession of all 

the news of the prison each morning before she has been in it five 

minutes. If there is a young girl in the female prison she goes in and 

sees her. She has never failed to make a friend where she has tried 

to, and few of those she has talked to have failed to be penitent, for 

a time anyway. Even the most depraved of the female prisoners, 

those who spend half their lives in the prison and are far beyond 

rescue, have a pleasant “Good morning” for her when she enters the 

prison.75 

 

Various religious denominations had a presence in the Tombs, and religious services were 

conducted in a chapel on the premises. But the religious groups that led those services and their 

members were generally perceived by the prison authorities as “do-gooders,” rather naive and not 

helpful. Mrs. Foster, on the other hand, was revered by the judges and prison authorities for her 
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honesty, sagacity, and integrity, the soundness of her judgment, and her very practical, very 

constructive methods and ideas. The religious groups might preach to the incarcerated and urge 

them to choose a life of goodness; Mrs. Foster, by contrast, provided concrete and realistic means 

and tools -- training, financial assistance, housing, gainful employment -- that could set the accused 

and convicted on a course to a law-abiding life. 

After her husband’s death in 1890, Mrs. Foster devoted herself to her occupation all the 

more intensively. Her daughter remarked that she “cannot remember the time when mother was 

not engaged in some charitable work or other.”76 The Warden of the Tombs said that “no one 

unacquainted with the details of Mrs. Foster’s work will ever know the self-sacrificing life that she 

led …”77 One of Mrs. Foster’s friends wrote that she “devoted every day in the year” to the work.78 

Mrs. Foster was so dedicated to her work, and so effective in it, that not long after she had begun 

she became widely known among her beneficiaries, judges, prison and court personnel, and others, 

including her fellow parishioners of Calvary Church, by the name “the Tombs Angel,” an informal 

honorific initially bestowed, it appears, by the prisoners. One of the judges said of her that “[s]he 

was not only a ‘Tombs angel,’ but a court angel.”79 

Inevitably, Mrs. Foster’s activities in the courtrooms of the city became known outside the 

courts. In time, all the newspaper reporters of the city learned about Mrs. Foster’s work, and, 

though by no means a naïve bunch, they came to respect her. The attention, however, made her 

uncomfortable and she sought to persuade the reporters against publicizing her work and her 

cases.80 One reporter wrote of her in 1891 that “[t]he first object of her life is to help women in 

misfortune. Her second object seems to be to avoid publicity.”81 “[H]er influence has frequently 

been of service in keeping out of the press things that would have been harmful [to the person she 

was trying to aid] if they had been given notoriety.” “‘Boys,’ she would say, ‘it’s only a poor girl 
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that has gone wrong, and you know that notoriety in her case will undo one-half of what I can do 

to put her right again. Leave it out, won’t you?’ And in a majority of cases she had her way.”82 But 

if her pleadings to reporters to keep a case out of the newspapers appeared to fail, she would then 

ask that the reporters at least keep her own name and role out of the story. “‘It will interfere with 

my work,’ she would say.”83 One reporter, noting “her extreme reticence about her work,” wrote 

the following about her appeal to him and his colleagues when she began her work: 

When she first began … she called the reporters together and said it 

would be impossible for her to go on with the work if they were 

going to make “stories” out of her. She asked that she might never 

be mentioned when it was possible to avoid it. She never talked 

about her work among her friends and with her family, and her life 

in the courts and the Tombs was lived quite apart from her life at 

home and in society.84 

 

Mrs. Foster started her day with services at Calvary Church and went from there to the 

Tombs.85 The sexton of Calvary Church reported that at these morning visits there would usually 

be people in need, sometimes as many as 20 or 30, waiting there for her, hoping for help, including 

impoverished persons not in trouble with the law. “She used [the church] as her uptown office, 

and she kept the clothes and things she gave away in the basement. She was always collecting 

every kind of thing and sending it here. Sometimes a wagon would drive up and unload.”86 

Reviewing the record, one has to conclude that Mrs. Foster was blessed with a rare and 

special persona, a character and temperament that fitted her well for her occupation and the 

challenges it presented. Supported by her religious faith, she was able to resist despair in the face 

of the harsh deprivation she saw, the resistance or dishonesty of convinced and recalcitrant 

criminals she encountered, and the severity of the difficulties she ran up against every day, and to 

remain warm and sympathetic. And, remarkably, even cheerful, as was confirmed by one of her 

daughters, who, when asked whether Mrs. Foster’s work made her unhappy, described her as “the 
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merriest one of the family. She seemed younger than her daughters.”87 And yet she was practical 

and level-headed and of sound judgment at the same time, which qualities, as Judge Jerome noted, 

were critical to her ability to achieve her objectives. She was as far as it was possible to be from a 

well-meaning, but naive charitable dilettante. 

Mrs. Foster was described as “a bright woman and brave as a lion. Her own deep troubles 

roused her sympathy for the desolate.” She was blessed with courage that was “prompt and 

unflinching.”88 Chaplain Munro of the Tombs Prison called her “a woman of much ability and 

considerable force of character. She was … generous to a fault, and ready to help everyone in time 

of need …”89 Judge Jerome spoke of her as “a small, nice-looking woman, very quiet and 

unobtrusive. And yet that is hardly right, either, for she was very active and always busy. But she 

went about her affairs in a direct and simple way.”90 A coroner who encountered her often during 

his career wrote that “only a woman of her broad culture, large tolerance, and unprejudiced mind 

could exercise such influence as she exercised on Judges, juries, lawyers, and all who met her.”91 

The Sheriff of the Tombs, who saw her almost daily and therefore knew her very well, said 

of her: 

She was always bright and cheery, and had a laugh or a joke or a 

pleasant word for everyone. She used to come whisking in every 

morning, and trip through the place, saying good-morning to 

everyone by name. She always came bustling into my office as 

breezy and chipper as a young girl. It was always “Good morning to 

you, Sheriff; are you good-natured to-day?”  You couldn’t help 

warming up to her … Every morning it was just the same. “I’ve got 

some people to see,” she would say. “Can I go into the cells?” She’d 

always ask. She could have gone right in, coming for… years that 

way, and everybody knowing her, but she always asked, and when 

I said, “Why, of course you can,” she’d say, “Thank you kindly, 

Sheriff; thank you kindly.”92 

 

One of the judges commented on the strength of her character: 
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She was in no sense what is ordinarily termed a “strong minded 

woman.” On the contrary, in bearing and conversation she was as 

gentle as a child. In another sense, however, she was the strongest 

minded woman I ever knew in the persistence with which she carried 

out her projects. Her social and philanthropic lives were distinct. 

Socially she was genial, a fine conversationalist, and delightful. In 

her work she showed great sagacity in judging of the real character 

of a case, and never became so interested as to be sentimental.93 

 

A reporter who had spoken to prison officials about her wrote these words in 1891: 

Go into any prison or police court you choose in this city … and ask 

any official what he thinks of Mrs. Foster, and he will reply earnestly 

in words of almost extravagant praise. It is really very surprising 

how powerfully she has impressed them all with a sense of her 

goodness. Jailers who look upon the most pitiful scenes daily with 

supreme indifference, and from much practice talk habitually in hard 

authoritative tones, soften their voices perceptibly when speaking of 

her.94 

 

One of those jaded and cynical jailers expressed his admiration in these striking words: 

It’s perfectly amazing what power to comfort that woman has.  I’ve 

had poor creatures here who would howl and screech and swear and 

shriek in rage by the hour, in spite of everything we and the matron 

could do and say. And then Mrs. Foster would come and just sit 

down outside the bars, and in five minutes them she-devils would 

be on the floor inside holding her hand through the bars and crying 

fit to shake their heads off, but quiet and subdued-like, you know. 

And she don’t say much either. That’s what beats me out. But, then, 

maybe, you’d understand how she does it if you’d just talk to her 

once.  She’s that gentle and sweet, and yet strong, you know, that – 

well, you know what I mean.95 

  



26 
 

Although Mrs. Foster clearly felt 

great sympathy for the defendants with whom 

she dealt and was willing to go to 

extraordinary lengths to help them, she could 

not have been as useful and effective as she 

was had she not been, at the same time, as 

alluded to in a quotation from Judge Jerome 

above, free from naiveté and impervious to 

ready deception from the promises and 

excuses given to her by unworthy potential 

recipients of her aid whom she encountered 

from day to day. The Sheriff of the Tombs 

said that “[y]ou couldn’t fool Mrs. Foster.” 

Sometimes she would be approached outside 

the Tombs by ex-prisoners, people in trouble, and “dead beats,” in the Sheriff’s words, who were 

looking to her for a “stake.” She would give them something, but she would not be misled by false 

promises of reform. Of the deadbeats, the Sheriff said, “[s]he was on to ‘em all right. She never 

talked reform to them.” She was, to be sure, “tender-hearted,” he said, “but not soft like some.”96 

Similarly, Judge Jerome observed that in her work she was often told untruths, “but her judgment 

was so good, and her experience so great, that it was the very rarest thing for any of these people 

to be able to deceive her.” When attempts to mislead her were made, he continued, “she was 

sagacious enough to detect the fact that they were untruths, so that when she reported to the court, 

the court felt that, as far as it was possible to ascertain them, all the facts of the case had been 

View of the interior yard of the Tombs, also depicting the 

Bridge of Sighs, 1875. The Miriam and Ira D. Wallach 

Division of Art, Prints and Photographs: Photography 

Collection, The New York Public Library. 
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learned, and that it might act with perfect safety upon her report …”97 When the facts warranted 

it, she would inform the court that, in her judgment, a defendant “was of such a character that she 

did not think there should be a suspension of sentence.”98 

Mrs. Foster was “a woman of medium height, rather slender, with an exceedingly sweet 

face, topped with a wealth of black hair.”99 The sexton at Calvary said that “to look at her, you 

would say she was no more than thirty-eight or nine, but she must have been over fifty.”100 As was 

noted earlier, she always dressed the same in memory of the loss she had suffered when her 

husband had abandoned the family: 

For years she has worn precisely the same sort of costume, and once 

you have seen her, whether you came on her suddenly, see her 

approaching in the distance, or only get a glimpse of her as she flits 

by, you will recognize her. She always wears a black dress and a 

widow’s hat with the crape veil behind, and not the slightest 

ornament to relieve the somberness of her costume. The nearest 

approach to color in her attire is the line of white ruffling around the 

inside edge of her hat, and that is scarcely visible unless you happen 

to be standing very near her. She is an indefatigable worker, and the 

respect in which she is held in the courts, prisons, and hospitals of 

the city is most marked. The moment she enters a court room every 

attendant will edge up a bit to see if there isn’t something he can do 

for her. City Magistrates and even the Judges of the Court of General 

Sessions will stop important cases to give Mrs. Foster an interview. 

Any request within reason that she may make is sure to be 

granted…101 

 

Societies are obviously very complex mechanisms and are never wholly one thing. Still, 

scholars and writers tell us that life among the fortunate and the strivers of the last decades of the 

19th century in New York City and in the United States in general was marked by conspicuous 

interest in and even preoccupation with wealth, gain, and social position and standing, as well as, 

with some frequency, propensity for corruption. Mrs. Foster lived in but also apart from this world: 

her personal circumstances, it appears, were comfortable, but her heart, her head, and the life of 
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work she created for herself were very far removed from the world of those years as described by 

Mark Twain and from the social milieu referred to by Edith Wharton, with irony, as that of an age 

of innocence. 

 

5. Mrs. Foster’s Work in Her Own Words 

Some greater sense of the nature of Mrs. Foster’s work and her character can be gleaned 

from her own words as she summarizes the activities of a typical day: 

I began at 9 A.M. in the vestibule of Calvary Church, where seven 

persons were awaiting me. To two I gave money for food, to one 

rent money, and to two orders for shoes. The others I took to 

superintendents of two Department Stores for positions. 

Then to the Court of Special Sessions, for the Case of B.H. 

(previously investigated), accused of petty larceny, whose sentence 

was shortened to only 30 days. Met in the corridor a young woman, 

homeless and penniless, with month old baby in her arms, whose 

husband had just been sentenced for 3 months, and paid $2 rent until 

I can get her work. 

In the Court of General Sessions, four cases: M.C., aged 19, had 

stolen $5, her first crime. Inquiry proved previous good character, 

and she was let off with ten days. A.B., 17, suspected of stealing [a] 

ring, was discharged in my custody. I took her to her mother, who 

will report to me regularly. M.N., when drunk, had broken a 

window. As it was her first offence, she was allowed to go on 

suspended sentence and her mother took her home. M.B., 20, 

servant, accused of theft. I had found all her employers for her three 

years in this country willing to take her back, but as the Court 

considers household thieves a most dangerous class, I was able only 

to get her sentence shortened to three months, on the ground of 

previous good record. 

Next, in District Attorney’s office, was promised speedy trials for 

three cases in prison. Then to 17th street and 10th avenue and to 

87th street and Columbus avenue, inquiring [of the] characters of 

two girls whose cases are to come up to-morrow. 

I then returned to the District Attorney’s office, by his request, to 

consult about a young girl, a victim of the “Cadet System 
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[prostitution].”  Saw the girl there, only 16, pretty and ignorant, an 

easy prey to vicious designs. Took her to St. Barnabas House, where 

she will be safe and whence I will take her back and forth daily to 

Court till her trial is over, and afterwards I will care for her as long 

as she needs help and until she can get work. Then, summoned by 

Prison Ward officer to Bellevue Hospital, to see a young girl just 

brought in for having attempted suicide. She was unwilling to talk 

until the nurse explained who I was, when she readily confided all 

her griefs to me. I comforted her as best I could and promised to 

stand by her in Court when tried, and to ask the Judge to put her in 

my care. 

Then home, at 6 P.M., to find a Subpoena Server waiting with two 

subpoenas for me to serve on two women I had taken into my care 

on parole eight months before, agreeing to produce them in Court 

when needed. As they were wanted the next day, I dined hurriedly 

and went to 106 Essex street and 82 Eldridge street, served the 

subpoenas, arranged to meet the women in Court the next morning, 

and returned home, my day’s work done.102 

 

In 1896 Mrs. Foster recounted this story: 

In the early summer there came into the court a young woman, 

scarce eighteen years old, accused of stealing $ 1,800, in open 

daylight, on the street. She was engaged to marry a man who made 

her help to him in getting this money a condition of their speedy 

marriage, and she consented to and did help him -- afterwards 

repented, and confessed. On my promise to care for her the judge 

suspended sentence, and gave her to me. I found work for her in the 

country -- a place which she has kept.103 

 

Mrs. Foster described three more of the cases that touched her that summer: 

A young man, not yet twenty, but with a wife and babe, came to 

New York from Lowell, Mass., leaving his wife and child with his 

mother until he could find work, and send for her. The first day, 

while looking around for board -- a stranger in a strange city -- he 

met another young man in a restaurant, and told him what he wanted, 

and asked him if he could direct him to a good, cheap place. All the 

money he had with him was $9.00.  This man said he too was poor, 

a peddler, but he had a good room, and would gladly share it, and so 

help both. This was agreed on, and my man from Lowell went home 

with him. That very night both were arrested as receivers of stolen 

goods, and it was the peddler’s business to sell them. I wrote to 

Lowell, got letters from the clergyman who baptized and married 
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my boy, also his mother and wife, and so proved his innocence, and 

obtained his discharge. I was anxious he should go back home, and 

he was willing, so I got him a ticket, and he returned to Lowell. 

Afterwards, through a friend, I obtained for him, work in Boston, 

which place he still has. 

Another; a young woman, twenty-two years old, was employed in a 

boarding-house as waitress. One of the boarders accused this girl of 

stealing a ring, and had her arrested. The girl protested her 

innocence, and I saw every employer she had had in the seven years 

she had lived at service. She had only had three places, and every 

one declared her honest and faithful in every way. The ring was not 

found on her, but she was held for trial. I then saw the people in the 

boarding-house, and finally learned that this ring had been missed 

and declared lost before this girl had entered the house. On that 

evidence and her good character she was discharged. I found her 

service in the family of one of the people who were in the court 

house at once. She is still there. 

Another case is that of a young girl who tried to take her life in 

Harlem, and, on her promise to never try it again, was discharged. 

She went out again just as destitute, friendless and homeless as 

before, and after two or three days more of suffering, tried it again. 

This time I was in court. I got suspended sentence for her, and sent 

her to Pelham Shelter for rest and quiet till she could recover herself 

and be able to work. There she was in safe, tender hands …104 

 

Another story of Mrs. Foster’s work was reported by one of her friends to the parishioners 

of Calvary Church: 

So, it happened that one afternoon, several years ago, when [Mrs. 

Foster] came out of the Tombs Prison, she was at once accosted by 

a young woman whose general appearance only too plainly 

indicated her manner of life, and whom Mrs. Foster had never seen 

before. At the girl’s earnest request, Mrs. Foster accompanied her, 

without knowing where she was to be taken, to an apartment house 

up-town, in one of whose rooms a girl of twenty-two lay dying. She 

died, in fact, an hour and a half after Mrs. Foster’s arrival, but in that 

time was able to tell the outlines of her sad history, and to express 

her one great desire of being buried beside the grave of her heart-

broken mother, in the cemetery of a small country town at some 

distance. When her health had failed, the three or four girls, her 

companions, did all in their power to give ease and comfort to her 

last days, and when she and they all knew that she was dying, they 

begged her to see some clergyman. She, at first, persistently refused, 
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but said, finally, seeing their distress, and feeling her own terrible 

loneliness, “If you could find Mrs. Foster, I would see her.” So, as 

Mrs. Foster… can always be found by those who need her, this poor 

betrayed, forsaken, dying girl was able to have a little comfort, 

falling asleep with her hand tight clasped in that of the only true 

friend she knew.105 

 

6. Funding the Work 

Mrs. Foster personally carried out all her labors in the Tombs and environs, in the courts 

and in her investigations throughout the city and elsewhere, and all her work finding homes and 

employment and providing financial and other assistance. 

She accepted no compensation for her work.106 She never took any money from the judges.  

Judge Jerome said that 

[l]ots of times I have tried to give her money for some particular 

case – where she had made expenditures to take care of the family 

while the man was in jail. She would say: “No, I cannot take any 

money from any of the judges. I know the judges who are here now 

would not think I was coming to them with the hope of getting some, 

but there might come judges here who would not feel that way about 

it. They would get to look upon me as a nuisance …”107 

 

Some of the funds she expended came from her own resources. In time, however, as her 

program expanded, word of her work spread and she sought out funds and was able to raise them. 

She raised monies from members of Calvary Church,108 including the “Friends at Court,” a group 

that was established at the instance of the Rev. Mr. Satterlee specifically to help her.109 This group 

started with six members. In its later years the group raised as much as $3,000 annually, equivalent 

to almost $100,000 today, to support Mrs. Foster’s work;110 in 1901, the group’s goal was $3,600. 

By 1902 there were about 200 regular subscribers.111 She also sometimes received support from 
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prominent and well-to-do families, and well-known philanthropists. Among those who reportedly 

aided her were Rockefellers, Vanderbilts, De Peysters, Van Rensselaers, Burdens, and Astors.112 

Public gatherings of various sorts, including some attended by Mrs. Foster, were also held 

to raise money to provide support for her work.113 At one such gathering in a private home in 1899, 

for example, a former Assistant District Attorney spoke in favor of Mrs. Foster’s work. The District 

Attorney himself had been scheduled to attend and address the group, but when other 

responsibilities prevented him from doing so, Bishop Satterlee spoke in his place. The meeting 

concluded with a presentation by Mrs. Foster describing her efforts.114 

In early 1901, the Friends at Court reported to the parishioners of Calvary that, in the 

preceding year, Mrs. Foster had made 1,171 visits; helped 419 prisoners and 81 prisoners’ families; 

sent 83 persons to their homes in various parts of this country; paid traveling expenses to Germany 

of two girls, to Italy of a woman and child, to Ireland of two girls, and to France and Bermuda of 

one each. She had distributed 230 pairs of new shoes. Among other things, she had paid out 

$463.98 for the traveling expenses of former prisoners; $736.21 for food; $281.00 for rents; 

$181.90 for ice in prisons; $152.38 for lodgings; and $60.75 for coal and wood.115 

 In November of 1896, Mrs. Foster reported to the relevant committee at Calvary Church 

that she had made 420 visits to prisons and courts during the summer of that year alone. During 

that summer, she informed the group, “I have helped, more or less, 187 women and 71 men; sent 

back to their homes 13 women and girls and 7 boys; and provided lawyers for 133 women and 84 

men; [and] I have given, during the summer, to women and girls, 213 garments and 87 pairs of 

shoes and 127 hats, also clothing to 13 men …”116 The gifts of parishioners, she advised the 

committee, “have made it possible to do much that else would have been impossible.”117 
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7. Providing Legal Assistance  

A regular part of Mrs. Foster’s 

work was to find attorneys for 

defendants in serious cases. With money 

in short supply, Mrs. Foster used her 

persuasive powers to prevail upon 

attorneys to take on cases pro bono. For 

instance, she often induced the young 

Samuel Seabury, Esq., who later 

became a very famous reformer and 

judge in New York,118 to take cases 

from her on this basis. Early on, when 

Seabury was in court one day, she came 

up to him and asked if he would act as 

counsel for some of her non-paying defendants.119 He accepted and thereafter threw himself 

enthusiastically into the cases she recommended to him. “She was kindly, sympathetic and humane 

and so great was my respect for her,” Seabury said, “that there was no case that she asked me to 

defend that I refused.”120 For a young lawyer, this proved to be good, albeit not lucrative, 

experience. “There was no need to wait for causes and clients to come to me now,” Seabury said. 

“Mrs. Foster saw to it that I was well supplied.”121 Other attorneys were likewise well-supplied: in 

the summer of 1896 alone, for example, she provided lawyers for 133 women and 84 men.122 

 Mrs. Foster also did what she could to provide direct, personal support to defendants in 

some very serious and notorious cases. One of these, a tremendous scandal at the time, was the 

Interior of the Tombs, Murderer’s Row. Originally published in 

Darkness and Daylight by Helen Campbell, 1895. 
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case of Maria Barbella.123 Barbella was an immigrant from Italy. One Dominic Cataldo, a fellow 

immigrant, had abused her, had taken advantage of her, and then, after false promises otherwise, 

had rebuffed her efforts to persuade him to marry her and save her from a life of degradation. 

Cataldo conveyed his refusal quite publicly. “Do you think I would marry such a girl,” he said. 

When she persisted, he refused, adding that “hogs may marry.” Barbella became enraged, attacked 

him with a razor, and cut him with it. He staggered into the street and died.124 

 There had been witnesses to the final altercation and Barbella thus did not deny that she 

had attacked Cataldo, although she asserted that she had not intended to kill him and there was 

evidence that she had been in a state of severe emotional distress for some time prior to and at the 

time of the attack. Barbella was incarcerated in the Tombs and put on trial for murder in 1895. 

Mrs. Foster took a great interest in her case and aided her in every way possible. She was at 

Barbella’s side in court every day throughout the trial. The defense did not argue that Barbella had 

been incompetent at the time of the attack. Barbella, who knew almost no English, testified in her 

own behalf at the trial, but the testimony was to no avail. Barbella was convicted. Mrs. Foster 

assisted Barbella throughout the sentencing hearing (the prisoner entered the courtroom “supported 

by Mrs. Foster, the Tombs Angel”) and stood up with her before the bar when the sentence was 

imposed. The judge sentenced Barbella to death. She would become the first woman to die in the 

electric chair in New York State if the sentence were carried out as scheduled in August 1895.125 

 Barbella was sent to Sing Sing the day sentence was pronounced and Mrs. Foster 

accompanied her. It was reported that “Mrs. Foster will make arrangements at Sing Sing for the 

girl to have any delicacy she wishes, for which Mrs. Foster will pay out of her own pocket.”126 

Because Barbella was in a deeply disturbed state, Mrs. Foster allowed herself to be locked in the 
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room with the prisoner for one or two days and nights. Then, when Barbella was in a better frame 

of mind, Mrs. Foster returned to the city and her work.127 

Thereafter, Mrs. Foster continued to expend herself on Barbella’s behalf. Along with a 

prominent volunteer, an American-born Italian countess,128 Mrs. Foster found a new attorney for 

Barbella and visited the editors of all the leading newspapers in an effort to persuade them to take 

positions in favor of clemency for Barbella or a new trial (which of course was ultimately a matter 

for the Court of Appeals).129 During the months that Barbella was incarcerated at Sing Sing, Mrs. 

Foster visited her frequently.130 

Attorneys representing Barbella pressed an appeal on her behalf. The appeal succeeded the 

next year when the Court of Appeals ordered a new trial,131 finding that the trial judge had made 

various errors, in particular, submitting the case to the jury upon a charge of first-degree murder 

that was erroneous in critical respects. At the second trial in 1896,132 Mrs. Foster once again sat at 

Barbella’s side throughout.133 This time Barbella’s lawyers argued that she had acted under the 

compulsion of extreme emotional upset. The argument succeeded: Barbella was acquitted, and she 

left the courtroom with Mrs. Foster at her side. It was reported that Mrs. Foster would find 

employment for her.134 As the attorneys who succeeded so spectacularly on behalf of Barbella had 

been recruited by Mrs. Foster and the Italian countess, Barbella ultimately owed her life to them. 

 Another case in which Mrs. Foster played a similar role was that of Mary Dunne. Mrs. 

Foster was at her side when she was tried on charges of having murdered her husband during a 

quarrel.135 And Mrs. Foster was at the counsel table beside Ida Lieberman during the latter’s trial 

for arson, which ended with a conviction.136 
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One of Mrs. Foster’s last cases was that of Florence Burns, a young woman who was 

charged with the murder of one Walter S. Brooks in another sensational case. During a hearing in 

the case that lasted several days, Mrs. Foster sat by her side as her best friend when all others had 

apparently abandoned her.137 At the end of a day’s hearing, Burns was “led over the Bridge of 

Sighs to her cell in the Tombs” accompanied by Mrs. Foster and a policeman.138 Chaplain Munro 

wrote that “this is just the kind of work Mrs. Foster had been doing -- of the most unselfish and 

loving character to prison unfortunates for nearly twenty years.”139 

 

8. Traveling Throughout the City and Elsewhere 

 Mrs. Foster’s work, and in particular her investigations into the background of accused 

persons, took her “into all parts of the city,” including the Lower East Side, where so many poor 

immigrants congregated in very harsh conditions, “and among all sorts of people, and she… 

[became] very well known to all classes of the wretched and unfortunate who are unable to help 

themselves.”140 “She visited all parts of the city day or night without fear, the policemen all 

knowing her and serving as a sort of bodyguard.”141 One who knew her well said: 

It was a wonder to me she could go about at all times of night and 

in all kinds of places alone and never have no harm come to her. She 

would go anywhere and do anything without thinking. One time she 

had been to a dinner at some fine place or other and got back to the 

hotel late. An old woman was waiting for her, and told her about a 

daughter that had got astray and was leading a bad life in a low resort 

on the Bowery. She had been gone from home a little over a week, 

and they had just found out where she was, but the dive-keeper had 

hid her away and the mother couldn’t get to her. Well, Mrs. Foster 

got a cab and drove, just as she was, evening dress and all, right to 

the door of the dive. 

She went in alone, and as she walked among the tables where men 

were drinking they called out to her all kinds of things. She went 

right to the bar and asked the keeper for the girl she was after. He 
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swore at her and ordered her to get out. Then one of the men at a 

table near the bar jumped up and called out, “Speak civil to her, 

Patsy. Shut up, you fellows! That’s the Tombs Angel you’re talking 

to. That’s who she is.” 

As soon as they heard that, a lot of the men came up, and the girls 

crowded around her, and they made Patsy go and get the one she’d 

come for.142 

 

In a public address at what probably was a fundraising event, Mrs. Foster told this story: 

One dark night, Mrs. Foster said, she was followed for several 

blocks on lonely East Side streets by a man who, Mrs. Foster thought 

at first, meant to rob her if he got a chance. At last she turned sharply 

around on him and asked him what he wanted. He told her he was 

following her to help her from being harmed. When Mrs. Foster 

asked him why he took such an interest in her welfare the man said: 

“Oh, a friend of mine down there told me about you.” 

“‘Down there,’” said Mrs. Foster, in telling the story, “always means 

in the Tombs with those people. ‘Up there’ or ‘up the river’ means 

at Sing Sing.”143 

 

 Mrs. Foster not only dealt with defendants accused of and imprisoned on common criminal 

charges such as thievery and pickpocketing and others more serious, but also those whose primary 

difficulty was emotional turmoil or mental impairment or who, as in the instance mentioned earlier, 

had fallen into a bad life, in many cases under the influence of an evil man. Mrs. Foster reported, 

for example, the case of a girl she encountered on the street: 

Another night I met a girl on Fourth avenue. Something in her face 

caught my eye, and I followed her until I caught up with her, 

although she ran to escape me. Then she asked me roughly what I 

wanted. I told her I thought she must be in some trouble, and she 

said, “Well, that’s it. It’s either the street or the river, and I’ll take 

the river for mine.”144 
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That proved to be a life-saving encounter for the girl. Mrs. Foster took her home and then got her 

a position. Sixteen years later, Mrs. Foster was able to say that the girl was living a happy and 

decent life.145 

Among the many cases 

of this type with which Mrs. 

Foster concerned herself were 

these: 

-- Mrs. Foster took 

Lizzie Hoffman, age 18, to 

Bellevue for psychiatric 

examination.  Lizzie had thrown 

her illegitimate baby into the 

river and suffered a mental 

breakdown.146 

-- Adelaide Davidson, a young woman who had been indicted for attempting suicide in 

Central Park because of her husband’s cruelty, was arraigned in the Court of General Sessions. 

The indictment was dismissed “as Mrs. Foster, the ‘Tombs Angel,’ promised to take care of the 

girl.”147 

-- Mrs. Emma Foote, a well-dressed woman, stole 74 yards of silk in Wanamaker’s. The 

police thought she had been suffering from an overdose of opiates. In the Court of General Sessions 

Mrs. Foster pleaded with the judge to be lenient, saying that the woman was in the last stages of 

consumption and presenting letters written in her behalf. The judge accepted a plea to a reduced 

Women “Lodgers” in the Elizabeth Street Police Station, photographed by Jacob 

Riis, c. 1890. Courtesy of the Museum of Modern Art, 344.1964. 
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charge and suspended sentence. The woman was discharged in the care of friends, who said they 

would look after her until her death.148 

-- A young widow named Mamie Carlton was arrested for attempting suicide and was 

confined to Bellevue. Mrs. Foster visited her there and offered to take her to St. Barnabas House 

until she could regain her strength, when a situation would be found for her. Later in court, Mrs. 

Foster explained to the judge what she proposed to do for the woman. The judge discharged her 

and Mamie accompanied Mrs. Foster to St. Barnabas House.149 

-- A 28-year-old waiter named Paul Baumgart tried to kill himself with laudanum because 

his wife had deserted him, and he did not care to live any longer. He was arrested. When his case 

came before the court, Mrs. Foster pleaded strongly in favor of the man and the court discharged 

him.150 

 -- In Washington Square the police arrested a refined-looking woman, aged 35, who was 

acting strangely. She had pinned to her sleeve a piece of paper that said: “Am sick and ill. If I faint, 

do not think me a drunken woman. If I am insensible, please don’t bury me alive.” She was taken 

to court, where Mrs. Foster held a long conversation with her. Mrs. Foster told the judge that she 

knew the woman, who had once been wealthy but was now in reduced circumstances and mentally 

unbalanced. The judge discharged the woman, who left the courtroom leaning on the arm of the 

Tombs Angel.151 
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A necktie workshop, circa 1890. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New 

York, 2008.2.4. 

Mulberry Bend Alley, circa 1895. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New 

York, 90.13.1.330. 
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 One of the safe houses Mrs. Foster used in her work, which was apparently referred to 

informally as “the Retreat,”152 was Pelham Hall Shelter in New Rochelle, New York, which was 

established in 1895. This probably was the “little place, up somewhere on the Sound,” to which 

Judge Jerome referred in a quote given above. Mrs. Foster herself noted the importance of the 

Shelter to her work.153 A contemporaneous directory reported that the home was a refuge for erring 

girls between the ages of 15 and 25 years old who showed a sincere desire to reform. The girls 

lived at the home and learned a useful trade, such as sewing or housekeeping. Efforts would be 

made to find these girls homes in the country in which to live and jobs suited to their needs and 

abilities. Mrs. Foster, who was on the Board of Trustees of the Shelter, regularly took girls who 

had been incarcerated in the Tombs and been placed in her charge by the court to this home to give 

them safe living accommodations, food, and clothing while they learned a trade that might provide 

them support in a future life.154 

Sewing and starving in an Elizabeth Street attic, circa 1890. Jacob A. Riis / 

Museum of the City of New York, 90.13.1.148. 
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In addition, in Manhattan, Mrs. Foster collaborated with the Episcopal City Mission, 

especially St. Barnabas House on Mulberry Street, which was where police headquarters was also 

located, and God’s Providence Mission on Broome Street. It was in the lodgings at St. Barnabas 

House that Mrs. Foster was able to provide shelter in Manhattan for many unfortunate women who 

were committed to her care by the courts or found by her in the streets.155 

 

 
A family in a room in a tenement house, circa 1910. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of 

the City of New York, 90.13.3.125. 
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Street Arabs, circa 1890. Jacob A. Riis / Museum 

of the City of New York, 90.13.4.124. 

Bandits’ Roost at 59 Mulberry Street, NYC, 

photographed by Jacob Riis, 1888. Courtesy of 

the Preus Museum, NMFF.002173. 
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 In 1901, Mrs. Foster reported that over a ten-year period she had looked after 700 girls who 

had been entrusted to her care, which represented only a part of the work she did.156 In that same 

year, she calculated that in the entire time she had been doing her work, only eight girls had gone 

back to prison.157 

 In her spare time (whatever there was of it), Mrs. Foster was also engaged in charitable 

endeavors beyond her prison work. She was active in the settlement house movement of the 

period.158 She ran and was a mainstay of a sewing school for poor young girls, mostly Jewish 

immigrants from the Lower East Side, the “great east side, where want and misery are on every 

hand.”159 Instruction in sewing, but no religious instruction, was given to these girls. After the 

original location of the school became too small for the demand that pressed upon it, a wealthy 

woman put up a building on Broome Street that became the school’s new home, as well as a venue 

for other work. This was known as God’s Providence Mission,160 of which Mrs. Foster was said 

to have been a founder.161 Mrs. Foster might have 250 sewing students in her school at a time. 

“Her work of prevention was pursued as aggressively and as affectionately as her work of 

restoration.”162 

 

9. The Tombs and “Five Points” 

The original Tombs where Mrs. Foster worked daily was built between 1835 and 1840 and 

was known officially as “The Halls of Justice and House of Detention.” It replaced a pre-

Revolutionary War prison in City Hall Park that was torn down in 1838. The new structure 

occupied a full block on the west side of Centre Street between Elm (today’s Lafayette), Leonard 

and Franklin Streets (the former location of the Tombs is today the site of Collect Pond Park),163 
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and also housed the quarters of the Court of Special Sessions and the Police Court, which dealt 

with offenses to public order such as public drunkenness. The prison quickly became known as 

“the Tombs” because of its Egyptian Revival-style architecture, a name that has been used for its 

successors up to the present day. 

The builders of the prison chose poorly when they decided to construct it where they did, 

on the former site of Collect Pond, which is depicted in an illustration in Section 2 of this portion 

of this article, and which derived its name from a corruption of a Dutch word for “small body of 

water.” This substantial pond, in places 60 feet deep, and fed by an underground stream, was the 

source of the City’s drinking water in the colonial period. In the 17th and 18th centuries, the pond 

was a favorite spot for picnics and ice skating. In 1796, one of the first experimental steamboats 

was launched on the pond. By the early 19th century, however, the City had allowed commercial 

enterprises, including tanneries and a slaughterhouse, to locate at the pond and use its waters. As 

a consequence, the pond became polluted and it was filled in and leveled by 1813. Unfortunately, 

the filling of the pond was badly done. The site of the former pond emitted noxious odors and 

mosquitoes bred there happily. The deterioration of the area caused a decline in the value of 

property there and made the zone one ripe for the development of a slum.164 

The construction of the new prison was not adequate for the conditions at the site.165 The 

Tombs was dark, dank, and, thanks to the former pond, more than damp. Only months after the 

Tombs opened, the building began to sink, causing cracks in the foundation through which water 

leaked, forming pools on the floor. The prison was plagued by water problems from then on. 

Difficulties with the building persisted for years. More than once a Grand Jury condemned the 

structure as unhealthy and unfit for its purpose.166 
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 The Tombs was primarily a place of detention for those awaiting trial and not released on 

bail. By the 1880’s, if not before, the prison was overcrowded.167 But the prison also had a 

secondary, quite solemn purpose -- executions by hanging took place inside the Tombs. A bridge 

that connected the women’s section to that of the men was known as the “Bridge of Sighs” because 

condemned men passed over it on their way to their execution.168 

One writer described the Tombs as “this home of the wretched”: 

For a half century The Tombs has been a synonym for sin and 

suffering. Here every suspected criminal is taken while awaiting 

trial and sentence. Here criminals have become still more hardened 

in their sinful career, and here, too, many a person, the victim rather 

than the guilty person, has become disheartened… Over the heavily 

barred gateway of this prison might well be engraved the words: 

“Abandon hope, all ye who enter here.”169 
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Charles Dickens came to New York City in 1842 and, not being a typical tourist, he paid a 

visit to the Tombs, which he described as “this dismal-fronted pile of bastard Egyptian, like an 

enchanter’s palace in a melodrama …”170 Dickens was well familiar with prisons and the harshness 

of aspects of life in the 19th century (his father had been imprisoned in the Marshalsea Prison for 

failure to pay his debts when Charles was 12 years old (about which Charles wrote in Little Dorrit 

The Tombs and Criminal Courts Building, photographed in 1894. Irma and Paul Milstein Division of 

United States History, Local History and Genealogy, The New York Public Library. 
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(1857)), at which point the boy had been forced to leave school to work in a factory). Still, Dickens 

was shocked by what he saw inside the Tombs.  He wrote: 

What! do you thrust your common offenders against the police 

discipline of the town, into such holes as these? Do men and women, 

against whom no crime is proved, lie here all night in perfect 

darkness, surrounded by the noisome vapours which encircle that 

flagging lamp you light us with, and breathing this filthy and 

offensive stench! Why, such indecent and disgusting dungeons as 

these cells, would bring disgrace upon the most despotic empire in 

the world!171 

 

 Of the prison yard he wrote: 

The prison-yard in which [a jailor] pauses now, has been the scene 

of terrible performances. Into this narrow, grave-like place, men are 

brought out to die. The wretched creature stands beneath the gibbet 

on the ground; the rope about his neck; and when the sign is given, 

a weight at its other end comes running down, and swings him up 

into the air -- a corpse.172 

 

  

The interior of the Tombs, showing relatives visiting the prisoners, late 19th 

century. Courtesy of Dr. Antonio Rafael de la Cova, latinamericanstudies.org. 
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Herman Melville in his famous story about the mysterious, phlegmatic, and taciturn 

Bartleby the scrivener had the Wall Street attorney who narrated say of the Tombs that “[t]he 

Egyptian character of the masonry weighed upon me with its gloom.” In keeping with that gloom, 

in the concluding section of the story, Bartleby was carried off to the Tombs as a vagrant at the 

instance of his landlord, declined to eat his food, and died in the yards of the prison.173 

 Apparently, Mark Twain also understood that the Tombs was a widely-recognized symbol 

and reality of harsh or at least rigorous treatment of persons suspected and accused of crime.  In 

the novel The Gilded Age: A Tale of Today (1873), which gave its name to the entire era, Twain 

A view of the interior of the original Tombs. The Miriam and Ira D. Wallach 

Division of Art, Prints and Photographs: Photography Collection, The New 

York Public Library. 
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and his co-author, Charles D. Warner, have one of the principal characters, who gets into grave 

trouble with the law, incarcerated there. 

We get a very clear 

understanding of what 

conditions were like inside the 

Tombs during the years when 

Mrs. Foster was working there 

from a report issued in 1896.174 

The Prison Association of New 

York was required by law to 

inspect the prisons in New York 

State and to report annually to 

the Legislature on what it found. 

A committee of the Association 

inspected the Tombs for two 

days in 1895. At that time, there 

were three facilities inside the Tombs: the original structure and two much smaller prisons, one 

holding alleged petty offenders and the other women and boys.  

The committee noted that cells in the main facility had been constructed against the walls 

and opened on a central court, as can be seen in some illustrations that appear in this section and 

in Section 7 of this part of this article. There were four tiers or stories of cells, with a narrow gallery 

running outside the cells on each tier overlooking the court. Each cell was about ten feet long and 

six feet wide, with a single bed about three feet wide.175 The arrangement of the cells precluded 

A view of the interior of the original Tombs. The Miriam and Ira D. Wallach 

Division of Art, Prints and Photographs: Photography Collection. The New 

York Public Library. 
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the admission of adequate light and ventilation from outside the walls. There were narrow slits 

through the rear wall, but the air and light inside the cells came principally from the central court 

through the grated doors. The prison was, still, 60 years after its opening, “dark, damp and ill-

ventilated.”176 There was an uncovered water closet in each cell, and these, the committee members 

found, “are old, rusty and more or less dirty and offensive. The cells are dark, ventilation is 

necessarily defective, and the smell, characteristic of a badly ventilated prison, is always 

present.”177 

 The prisoners were allowed no exercise in a yard or the open air. Exercise in the Tombs 

consisted of this: the prisoners were allowed out of their cells twice a day for an hour and permitted 

to walk around the gallery outside the cells. The rest of the day, 22 hours a day, they were locked 

in the cells.178 

There were 298 cells in the prison. During the committee’s visit there were about 470 

prisoners detained, which was the typical number. Thus, most of the cells housed two prisoners 

each, but some would not infrequently accommodate three.179 

In the cases where two or three men occupy one of these cells, they 

pass twenty-two hours of the day in this cell together. The cell 

contains no chair or table. There is no place to sit down except upon 

the narrow bed. They sleep together in this narrow bed, usually lying 

one with his head at one end of the bed and the other with his head 

at the other end, whenever two occupy the cell; when there are three 

occupants, the third man lies on a mattress or blanket on the floor. 

And in such a cell they remain, in some instances for months, day 

and night, in the cold of winter, and the sweltering heat of summer, 

breathing the foul air of the prison, and the fouler exhalations from 

the closets in the cells.180 
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The permanent over-

crowding of the cells “is nothing 

but a means of indescribable 

torture to a decent man, and a 

prolific school of vice and crime 

to a criminal.”181 

There were no decent 

bathing facilities in the prison, 

only a rusty old tub in one cell 

on each floor. There was no 

employment or activity for the 

detainees of any sort, nor adequate hospital facilities. All meals were taken in the cells, without 

the benefit even of a table on which to place plates and utensils. The prison was “defective in every 

modern appliance.”182 

The members of the committee did not employ euphemisms in stating their opinion of the 

conditions they saw. 

Such treatment of dogs would be gross cruelty; and when it is 

considered that the men so treated have not been convicted, and in 

many instances never are convicted of any crime, and that the prison 

is only intended to be a place for safe detention and not a place for 

punishment, no language which can be employed can be too severe 

in denunciation of such an infamy.183 

 

“The provisions for women prisoners,” the committee found, “are entirely inadequate; and in short, 

almost everything about the design and arrangement of the Tombs prison deserves unqualified 

censure.”184 

The boys’ cell in the Tombs, 1870. Mrs. Foster worked with the imprisoned, 

who were housed in cells such as these. The Miriam and Ira D. Wallach 

Division of Art, Prints and Photographs: Picture Collection, The New York 

Public Library. 
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The committee therefore concluded that no attempt ought to be made to refurbish or utilize 

the Tombs. “The Tombs prison, as it has existed for years past, is a disgrace to the city of New 

York. It ought to be immediately demolished. It cannot be made decent.”185 A new facility, the 

committee recommended, one “designed as a place of safe detention and not of punishment, and 

built in accordance with modern ideas of prison construction,” should be put up in its place.186 

 

 

The second Tombs, looking north on Centre Street, with the Criminal Courts 

Building beyond, circa 1904. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs 

Division, LC-USZ62-83838. 
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Unlike many another governmental report, this one, by itself or perhaps in conjunction with others 

of like tenor, achieved results: the old Tombs was demolished. A new prison was built at the same 

location in 1902.187 In 1894, a Criminal Courts Building, also situated on the west side of Centre 

Street, had been constructed across Franklin Street from the original Tombs. The new Tombs was 

connected to the court building by another “Bridge of Sighs” to ease the transfer of detainees to 

the court for legal proceedings. 

 It is nothing short of amazing that Mrs. Foster spent each day of the entirety of her career 

working, without recompense, in the horrible conditions of the Tombs described by the Prison 

Association committee. 

Demolition of the original Tombs Prison, circa 1902. The successor Tombs can 

be seen in the rear. Robert L. Bracklow / Museum of the City of New York, 

93.91.338. 
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The wretchedness with 

which Mrs. Foster contended 

every day was not confined to 

the interior of the Tombs prison. 

The neighborhood very near the 

original Tombs, in which Mrs. 

Foster spent so much time, 

which today is Foley Square 

and environs, was then an 

impoverished district largely of immigrant housing, of shabby and crowded tenements and extreme 

poverty, and of the social problems, crime not the least of these, to which such conditions give 

rise. The neighborhood, of Gangs of New York fame, was known as “Five Points,” taking that 

name from an intersection of streets that produced five corners, and it was thoroughly infamous, 

and not just throughout New York City. The great influx in immigration to the United States that 

we described earlier had perhaps a greater impact on this district than any other in New York State, 

or even the country. One scholar has written of it that “Five Points was the most notorious 

neighborhood in nineteenth-century America:” 

A postcard showing the second Tombs, the Criminal Courts Building, and the 

Bridge of Sighs connecting them, circa 1915. Success Postal Card Co. / 

Museum of the City of New York, X2011.34.2421. 
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Beginning in about 1820, overlapping waves 

of Irish, Italian, and Chinese immigrants 

flooded this district … Significant numbers 

of Germans, African Americans, and 

Eastern European Jews settled there as well 

… [T]he densely populated enclave was 

once renowned for jam-packed, filthy 

tenements, garbage-covered streets, 

prostitution, gambling, violence, 

drunkenness, and abject poverty. “No decent 

person walked through it; all shunned the 

locality; all walked blocks out of their way 

rather than pass through it,” recalled a tough 

New York fireman. A religious journal 

called Five Points “the most notorious 

precinct of moral leprosy in the city, … a 

perfect hot-bed of physical and moral 

pestilence, … a hell-mouth of infamy and 

woe.”188 

 

 Dickens visited the Five Points, which he described 

in the following words: 

Poverty, wretchedness, and vice, are rife enough 

where we are going now. 

This is the place, these narrow ways, diverging to the right and left, and 

reeking everywhere with dirt and filth. Such lives as are led here, bear the 

same fruits here as elsewhere. The coarse and bloated faces at the doors, 

have counterparts at home, and all the world over … See how the rotten 

beams are tumbling down, and how the patched and broken windows seem 

to scowl dimly, like eyes that have been hurt in drunken frays … 

What place is this, to which the squalid street conducts us? A kind of square 

of leprous houses, some of which are attainable only by crazy wooden stairs 

without … 

Here too are lanes and alleys, paved with mud knee-deep, underground 

chambers, where they dance and game; the walls bedecked with rough 

designs of ships, and forts, and flags, and American Eagles out of number: 

ruined houses, open to the street, whence, through wide gaps in the walls, 

other ruins loom upon the eye, as though the world of vice and misery had 

nothing else to show: hideous tenements which take their name from 

robbery and murder; all that is loathsome, drooping, and decayed is here.189 

A map of the Five Points district, 1855-1867, showing 

the intersection marked by a star and, on the left-hand 

side, the Tombs Prison. Digital Cartography by 

Maryland Mapping & Graphics Inc. 
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The Tombs was a part of 

this area, located only a short 

distance from the Five Points 

intersection. To reach the 

intersection from the Tombs 

one only needed to walk one 

block south on Centre Street, 

turn left onto Worth Street, and 

proceed one cross-town block.  

Many of those who were 

incarcerated in the Tombs and 

who looked to Mrs. Foster for assistance, and the families of those persons, came from this 

impoverished neighborhood. Thus, Mrs. Foster’s work in the Tombs and her labor on behalf of the 

detained required that she frequent the neighborhood and its facilities on a daily basis. The ground-

breaking publication of Jacob Riis’s How the Other Half Lives: Studies Among the Tenements of 

New York in 1890, when Mrs. Foster was working there, shed unsparing light upon the harsh 

conditions of the area, which are visible today in Mr. Riis’s surviving photographs, including of 

the inside of the Tombs.190 The faces of many poor immigrants and others who lived in the Five 

Points neighborhood now stare out at us from the streets and buildings and rooms photographed 

by Mr. Riis, and the modern viewer can only wonder how these persons endured such conditions. 

But they did, and they continued to do so for some considerable time before the work of Mr. Riis, 

Theodore Roosevelt, and many others led to the elimination of the Five Points tenements. 

 

Mulberry Street, 1900. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-

D4-12683. 
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Leonard Street Police Station. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New 

York, 90.13.4.233. 

Tenement House Yard, circa 1890. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New 

York, 90.13.2.26. 
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In working each day in the Tombs Prison, and walking the streets of the Five Points 

neighborhood on a daily basis, which almost no one else of her social station would have done or 

did, and doing her work in the wretched and dangerous tenements, saloons, and other 

establishments of the area, Mrs. Foster demonstrated clearly that she was a person of exceptional 

determination, dedication and courage.  

 

 

Bottle Alley, Mulberry Bend, circa 1895. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of 

New York, 90.13.1.33. 

 
 

https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory


60 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Rear tenements in Mott Street, where it was said that an immigrant had 

murdered his wife, circa 1895. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New 

York, 90.13. 

 
 
 

Mott Street Yard, circa 1890. Jacob A. Riis / 

Museum of the City of New York, 90.13.2.131. 
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Baxter Street Alley, 1895. Jacob A. Riis / Museum of the City of New York, 

90.13.1.277. 

3 of 3 
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10. How Mrs. Foster’s Work Came to an End 

 At age 54, Mrs. Foster was in 

full stride pursuing her work 

when she died, suddenly and 

tragically, on February 22, 

1902, in a hotel fire that 

damaged a portion of the Park 

Avenue Hotel on the southwest 

corner of Park Avenue South 

and 34th Street. At one time she 

reportedly had lived at 441 Park 

Avenue at 30th Street, and the 

understanding of the Foster family has been that she had lived at addresses on East 76th and East 

78th Streets in earlier years,191 but in more recent times she had moved to the comfortable hotel, 

perhaps as a way to simplify her life after her daughters married. About 460 guests were in the 

hotel at the time of the conflagration. Seventeen persons, including Mrs. Foster, died in that fire. 

Two of the other victims were also members of the congregation of Calvary Church. 

 Fire, of course, was a great danger in New York City in those days given its many wooden 

structures. The Park Avenue Hotel, however, was large and modern (1878), with spacious quarters 

and accommodations for residents and guests, and was considered to be an advanced fireproof 

building. The fire appears to have been started by the transfer of burning embers from a fire that 

was in progress across Park Avenue South where the Seventy-First Regimental Armory was then 

located. The fire apparently raced up an elevator shaft in the hotel and many patrons trying to 

The Park Avenue Hotel, circa 1900. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs 

Division, LC-D4-18027. 
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escape by stairway were overcome by smoke that engulfed that stairway. It was reported that Mrs. 

Foster, after having escaped from her room, Room 612, had returned to assist an elderly hotel 

patron: 

 

 

The Dining Room at the Park Avenue Hotel, circa 1901. Byron Company (New 

York, N.Y.) / Museum of the City of New York, 93.1.1.6447. 
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[W]hen the fire started in the hotel, in which she lived, Mrs. Foster 

easily reached a place of safety. She was anxious about an invalid 

woman who was on one of the upper floors, and made repeated 

inquiries as to her safety. Lewis Edwards, who was in the hotel, said 

today that Mrs. Foster, on learning that the ill woman had not been 

accounted for, went back into the burning hotel and perished in her 

efforts to find the invalid, whom she sought to bring to a place of 

safety.192 

 

 Mrs. Foster’s untimely and sudden death came as a very great shock to many and, despite 

her aversion to publicity, was much reported on by the papers. Especially shocked and saddened 

by her death were the members of the local legal community -- Judges, prosecutors, attorneys, and 

prison wardens and officers -- and, of course, most poignantly, the prisoners and countless other 

unfortunates who had been the direct beneficiaries of her labors. 

  

A Waiting Room at the Park Avenue Hotel, circa 1901. Byron Company (New 

York, N.Y.) / Museum of the City of New York, 93.1.1.6446. 
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The interior of one of the rooms at the Park Avenue Hotel, circa 1901. Byron 

Company (New York, N.Y.) / Museum of the City of New York, 93.1.1.6436. 

The interior of one of the rooms at the Park Avenue Hotel, circa 1901. Byron 

Company (New York, N.Y.) / Museum of the City of New York, 93.1.1.6435. 
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 On February 23, 1902, the day before the funeral at Calvary Church, services were held in 

memory of Mrs. Foster at the Tombs, first in the women’s ward and later in the men’s ward.193 

“When it became known in the Tombs Prison that the ‘Tombs Angel’ had passed away there were 

some of the deepest expressions of grief that have ever invaded the walls of that forbidding 

structure.”194 A service in her memory was held at God’s Providence Mission. It was reported that 

“Florence Burns … sorely misses Mrs. Foster. The latter, until her untimely death, daily visited 

Miss Burns and steadily encouraged her. The prisoner was visibly affected at both services in the 

women’s ward” in the Tombs.195 

 The day of Mrs. Foster’s funeral began with a simple service at the house of Mrs. William 

C. Bowers, Mrs. Foster’s daughter Jeanette. She and Mrs. Foster’s other daughter, Mrs. Francis S. 

Colt, and their three little children were the chief mourners, along with three of Mrs. Foster’s 

sisters.196 

The opening of the courts that day was postponed to allow Judges and court staff to attend 

the funeral.197 The funeral service was “[p]robably one of the most remarkable gatherings that was 

ever collected in a church of this city …”198 “No woman has been laid away with more loving 

hands and more widely expressed sorrow than Mrs. Rebecca Salome Foster, ‘The Angel of the 

Tombs.’ The funeral was a sight such as is seldom seen in Greater New York.”199 Those present 

included the District Attorney, many judges, and many attorneys, prosecutors, and prison staff, 

and those who had been helped by her. Indeed, said one press account, “[a]lmost in the same pews 

with the Judges who dispense the criminal laws in our courts sat men and women who had been 

reclaimed from lives of crime by the one to whose memory they had come to offer silent tribute.”200 

This account went on: 
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Prominent philanthropists and clergymen noted for their energy in 

many fields of charitable work mingled with turnkeys of the city 

prisons and attendants of the criminal courts. Children and young 

girls from the slums … mingled with men and women prominent in 

social life who had given generous financial aid to Mrs. Foster in 

her charitable work. Hundreds stood at the rear of the church and in 

the side aisles.201 

 

 Approximately 100 of the students from Mrs. Foster’s sewing school were there,202 as were 

numerous Episcopal officials and representatives of the Society for the Protection of Jewish 

Prisoners.203 Floral tributes were sent by the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children and 

the judges of the Supreme Court.204 Throughout the service many women were noticed weeping 

silently in the rear of the church. Among those was Maria Barbella.205 She brought flowers as a 

tribute to “my friend.”206 Florence Burns sent flowers, as did jointly prisoners from the Tombs.207 

 Peter Seaman, who had been a court officer in General Sessions for almost thirty years, 

and who, with a score or more other attendants of the Criminal Courts, was in the church, said 

after the services that he had recognized at least 100 men and women there who had been arraigned 

before the criminal bar for various crimes, ranging from murder to petty larceny.208 

 Another account also noted the heterogeneity of the mourners: 

A common sorrow called together a throng of people of all 

nationalities and social classes yesterday morning, and men of 

affairs, women of position and outcasts of the street wept together 

by the bier of their friend, Mrs. Rebecca Salome Foster … 

The big auditorium was filled to the doors, while outside on the 

sidewalk a sad-faced group of unfortunates, too unfamiliar with 

churches and their ways to enter, paid their tribute of love in silent 

tears.209 

 

 After the funeral Mrs. Foster was buried alongside her husband and her children, Lomie 

and John, in the family plot in Woodlawn Cemetery in the Bronx. 
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The day before the fire, Mrs. Foster had been making her usual rounds and had come into 

contact with two women who had been picked up in the streets. She had taken them to lodgings in 

St. Barnabas House to provide them with shelter. She had asked that shoes be given to the women, 

and had said that she would pay for them the next day. She did not live to fulfill her promise, but 

her request was considered her dying wish and the women received the best shoes to be found in 

the place.210 

The Annual Report of the Prison Association of New York issued after Mrs. Foster’s death 

noted that “the impression which her earnest, intelligent and self-sacrificing work for prisoners 

had made upon the court is seen in the remarkable tribute which was paid to her in the Court of 

Special Sessions, which on motion of the District Attorney, adjourned in respect to her 

memory.”211 In making this motion, District Attorney Jerome said: 

What she was to this court and the unfortunate people with whom it 

has had to deal is too well known to need statement. For many years 

she came and went among us with but a single purpose: “That men 

might rise on the stepping-stones of their dead selves to higher 

things.” 

There is a word which is seldom used. To us, who in administration 

of the criminal law are daily brought into contact with the misfortune 

and sin of humanity, it seems almost a lost word. It is the word 

“holy.” In all that word means to English-speaking peoples, it seems 

to me it could be applied to her. She was indeed a “holy woman.” It 

hardly becomes us to do aught else than to testify in holy, reverent 

silence of our love and respect.212 

 

 Presiding Justice Holbrook, in granting the motion, said: 

It is eminently proper that we should interrupt our regular 

proceeding and pause for a moment to plant a flower of 

remembrance evincing our regard for that noble and saintly woman 

-- Mrs. Foster -- not inaptly called and known as “The Tombs 

Angel” -- whose tragic and pathetic death has so greatly saddened 

our hearts. Mrs. Foster was known to and highly respected by all 

who frequent this court. Perhaps none knew her better than the 
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members of this bench, on whom she was wont to call almost daily 

in the performance of her benevolent work, and in the discharge of 

her duties as a probationary officer of this court. 

It has been very truly and eloquently said of Mrs. Foster by the 

learned District Attorney, that to those in distress, and especially to 

those of her own sex, she was a good and true angel. To the erring 

and wayward, her large, generous, and womanly heart ever went out 

with sincere and deep sympathy. Her appearance at the dark and 

gloomy cell to the inmates was like a veritable sunbeam. 

Numberless lonely and weary hearts have been cheered, gladdened, 

and made even radiant by her ministrations and words of good cheer, 

and numberless, too, of those who have strayed from the straight and 

narrow way were brought back by her sweet influence to paths of 

rectitude and virtue. … 

We shall all miss her bright, charming face, and many, very many, 

alas! will miss her cheerful words of comfort and hope. As a slight 

token of our esteem, and as a perpetual reminder of her good works, 

the clerks will cause these proceedings to be entered upon the 

minutes of this court.213 

 

 The Court of General Sessions and the Supreme Court also adjourned in her honor.214 

 Mrs. Foster was eulogized by the Rector of Grace Church in these words: 

“The Angel of the Tombs” men called her. A strange epithet, and to 

one who knew nothing of our city’s ways and woes an unintelligible 

one; but what it meant our Judges know, our prosecuting attorneys 

know, yes, best of all, those poor creatures know by whose suffrage 

this unique order of merit was created and conferred. It was they 

who named her “Angel,” they whose dwelling place was the Tombs, 

and into whose dark lives she came as a messenger of light.215 

 

 A newspaper report days after her funeral gave an indication in concrete terms of the extent 

of the gap left by her death: 

With the death of Mrs. Rebecca Salome Foster, the “Tombs Angel,” 

the work of the committee known as the Friends at Court is at an 

end, and the organization will disband. The balance in the treasury, 

which amounts to about $1,300, will be returned to the subscribers, 

or, if they agree, will be used to continue some project dear to Mrs. 

Foster’s heart at the time of her death, and so serve as a memorial of 
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her useful life. Whether it will be employed to help one life or to 

extend some more general work is not yet decided.216 

 

In 1909, Commodore Elbridge T. Gerry, who was at various times the president of and 

counsel to the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children, testified before a legislative 

commission examining the lower courts of the city. He took the occasion to describe Mrs. Foster 

as the most efficient “probation officer” the city had ever seen, a born friend of children and those 

in need of sympathy.217 

In the year of her death, a tablet in Mrs. Foster’s memory was unveiled in God’s Providence 

Mission on Broome Street, where she had run her sewing school for many years.218 

The Warden of the Tombs, reflecting after her death, said that he had never in his life seen 

another woman like Mrs. Foster and never expected to. “She was the kindliest, the gentlest woman 

in the world …”219 

Nobody can ever know the amount of good that woman did in the 

many years she worked in this prison. 

She had a genius for the work.  She could talk five minutes with a 

prisoner and entirely win her confidence … Hundreds, perhaps 

thousands of first offenders were saved by her from adopting a 

criminal career.220 
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THE FOSTER MEMORIAL 

 Not long after Mrs. Foster’s death a campaign was organized to finance a fitting public 

tribute in her memory. The idea was suggested by the City Club, the trustees of which assigned 

the task of arranging the details and procuring the necessary funds to one of the Club’s committees.  

Capt. F. Norton Goddard, the treasurer of the fund, issued a public appeal for subscriptions.  He 

wrote to various noteworthy persons and solicited from them letters supporting the campaign and 

describing “the thorough excellence of [Mrs. Foster’s] work, and the great beauty of her 

character.”221 In May 1902, the New York Times reported that the fund “is receiving replies that 

are quite encouraging. But a considerable sum is required to provide a dignified and beautiful work 

of art which shall fitly perpetuate the memory of Mrs. Foster.”222 

The Times described some of the responses received: 

District Attorney Jerome, in forwarding a check, eulogizes Mrs. 

Foster and declares that any language approximately describing her 

work would seem extravagant. In addition he said: “In pursuit of the 

work to which she was devoted, I have known her to go on until 

from sheer exhaustion she fainted away …” 

In transmitting his check ex-District Attorney Philbin warmly 

commended the plan, and paid a high tribute to Mrs. Foster, saying 

among other things: “It was Mrs. Foster’s practice to visit the 

prisons and the Tombs, and in a quiet, unaggressive manner appeal 

to the better feelings of the inmates. Although herself of high social 

standing, she was able to have a thorough sympathy not only for the 

unfortunate circumstances that caused imprisonment, but also as to 

the environment whence the prisoner came … This great work of 

charity differed from any other that I have ever known in that, 

although a great volume of work was accomplished, practically no 

part of the funds furnished from time to time by Mrs. Foster’s friends 

was used in the expenditure of salaries or other items, but the money 

supplied was used almost exclusively for the aid of the 

unfortunate.”223 

 

 And this article contains this remarkable tribute by a former District Attorney: 
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In announcing his readiness to contribute to the fund ex-District 

Attorney W.M.K. Olcott said: “Mrs. Foster’s deplorable death will 

be felt with more poignant sorrow and for a longer time and by more 

people than that of any one with whom I have ever come into 

contact. Her work was painstaking and thorough and tactful and 

inspired. Her memorial will not only commemorate herself and her 

good deeds, but will urge others to profit by some of the graces of 

her good example, and so your work will continue the beneficence 

of hers.”224 

 

In his efforts to secure endorsements for this project and to generate funding for it from the 

public, Goddard wrote to the Secretary to President Theodore Roosevelt. That letter bore fruit. 

President Roosevelt sent the following letter dated April 21, 1902: 

My Dear Captain Goddard: 

I gladly enclose my subscription to help erect a monument to Mrs. 

Rebecca Salome Foster, better known as the “Tombs Angel.” It is a 

very real pleasure to testify even in so small a way to her work. 

Faithfully yours, 

Theodore Roosevelt225 

 

We do not know whether President Roosevelt ever met Mrs. Foster. But Roosevelt had 

grown up in an atmosphere of concern for social improvement as a result of the activities of his 

beloved father. Theodore Senior, who had been deeply religious, had helped to create the 

Children’s Aid Society to support the city’s homeless children. He had been instrumental in the 

establishment of the Newsboys’ Lodging House, which provided accommodations for several 

hundred stray boys nightly, and he spent part of every Sunday working with the boys there. He 

also helped to start the New York Orthopedic Dispensary and Hospital, which provided treatment 

for children with deformities.226 Theodore Junior was a prominent reformer active in Republican 

politics in New York City who, after an unsuccessful campaign to become Mayor of the City of 

New York, served as President of the Board of Commissioners of the New York City Police 
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Department, the headquarters of which were located at 300 Mulberry Street, between Houston and 

Bleecker Streets, not far from the center of the Five Points neighborhood, from 1895 to 1897, while 

Mrs. Foster was at work. He was a close personal friend of Jacob Riis, who wrote a biography of 

him in 1904, and was strongly influenced by Riis’s work on the tenements of New York. As 

President of the Police Commissioners, Roosevelt would prowl the streets of the city in the dead 

of night and the early morning checking on the activity of his police officers, and Riis would 

sometimes accompany him. Roosevelt fought against and reduced politics, ethnic discrimination, 

and corruption in the police force.227 Roosevelt “personally brought about the closure of a hundred 

of the worst tenement slums seen on his famous night patrols.”228 After he became Governor of 

New York, Roosevelt established a Tenement House Commission to address problems in those 

troubled areas so well documented by Riis. Thus, Roosevelt was very familiar with the Five Points, 

tenement life, crime in the city, the effects of poverty on the young and immigrants, and the needs 

of the poor, particularly the young, and so it is reasonable to conclude that he knew of Mrs. Foster 

and her work while serving as President of the Police Commissioners and afterward. Incidentally, 

the Roosevelt family home at 28 East 20th Street was only a block or so away from Calvary 

Church. 

 A number of articles about the progress of the public subscription appeared in the 

newspapers in the months that followed its initiation. In due course sufficient funds were raised to 

finance a suitable monument to Mrs. Foster. Karl Bitter was commissioned to create the work, and 

Charles R. Lamb (1860-1942) was chosen, perhaps by Bitter, to produce the metal frame. 
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The selection of Karl Bitter for the 

commission was a reflection of the admiration 

felt for Mrs. Foster by the supporters of the 

campaign. Karl Bitter was one of the most 

celebrated and respected sculptors of his time. 

He was born in Austria in 1867 and studied in 

Vienna at the School of Applied Arts (1881-

1884) attached to the Austrian Museum of Art 

and Industry, with the intention of becoming a 

landscape painter. Gradually, he became 

interested in sculpture. From 1885-1888. he 

studied at the Imperial Academy of Fine Arts. 

During this period, he also worked as an 

assistant to established sculptors on the ornamentation of public buildings and he apprenticed as a 

stone carver. In pursuing an artistic life, Bitter acted in defiance of his father, who was a stern 

disciplinarian and wished his sons to become lawyers. Bitter came to America when he was 22, in 

1889, while Mrs. Foster was working in the Tombs. As was true of so many immigrants before 

and has been true since, Bitter arrived with very little -- a bag weighed down with the tools of his 

profession, virtually no English, a German-English dictionary, no connections in America, no 

letters of introduction, and only a few dollars in his pocket. Bitter’s education, experience, and 

talent saved him from the rigors of the tenement life that otherwise might have awaited him. Within 

days of his arrival in New York, good luck came to him and he chanced to find work modeling 

figures in clay for a firm of architectural decorators. Within a few weeks thereafter, his work came 

Karl Bitter, circa 1905. Karl Theodore Francis Bitter papers. 

Archives of American Art, Smithsonian Institution. 
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to the attention of Richard Morris Hunt, the firm’s most important client and one of the most 

prominent architects in America. Hunt became a mentor to Bitter. He urged Bitter to leave his job 

and set up a studio of his own, which Bitter did, on East 13th Street, and Hunt referred much 

decorative work to him for projects Hunt had in progress. In this early period, Bitter learned about 

a prize competition for bronze doors for Trinity Church, Wall Street, in New York, for which John 

Jacob Astor had left money in his will. Bitter submitted a design and in 1891, when he had been 

in America only 16 months and was only 23 years old, he won the prize for the main door on 

Broadway. The door was created and installed, and this success, together with the support of 

Hunt,229 firmly set Bitter on his career.230 

In the first stage of his career, Bitter did decorative sculpture. He did work for the Astor, 

Huntington and Goodyear residences, the Long Island home of William K. Vanderbilt, the Park 

Avenue mansion of Cornelius Vanderbilt II, and, later on, for the garden of Kykuit, the Rockefeller 

estate in Westchester County, New York. He provided decorative sculpture for the Vanderbilt 

mansion, the “Breakers,” in Newport, Rhode Island,231 as well as extensive work at Biltmore, the 

estate of George W. Vanderbilt in Asheville, North Carolina, the largest home in the United 

States.232 These commissions gave Bitter financial security such that he was able, at only 28, to 

commission the construction of a home and studio for himself on the edge of the New Jersey 

Palisades in Weehawken, which was completed in 1897.233 

By the beginning of the new century Bitter had turned from privately commissioned 

ornamental works and increasingly focused his energies on architectural sculpture, sculpture that 

sought to adorn and to enhance the beauty of buildings, of which a great many were being built in 

the ever-more-prosperous country. The creation of such sculpture was challenging because it had 

to be, of course, beautiful and of high quality, but also must be in harmony with the designs and 
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intentions of the architects. Among his architectural efforts were many works for the exterior of 

the Broad Street Station in Philadelphia, as well as a frieze 30 feet in length for the interior entitled 

“The Progress of Transportation” (1895);234 a medallion on the Custom House Building in lower 

Manhattan;235 a group for the exterior of the Appellate Division, First Department, in New York 

City (“Peace,” on top of the balustrade facing Madison Square) (1900); four figures on the exterior 

of the Metropolitan Museum of Art facing Fifth Avenue (1901);236 and a significant amount of 

work for the new Wisconsin State Capitol Building in Madison (1911).237 

In addition, Bitter was also called upon to create portraits, sculptures of figures, reliefs, 

monuments, memorials, and other kinds of work. Among his impressive designs with historical 

themes were a monument commemorating the signing of the treaty effecting the Louisiana 

Purchase for the Missouri Historical Society and large-scale figures of Thomas Jefferson on three 

occasions, for the Jefferson Memorial at the Missouri Historical Society in St. Louis, the new 

Cuyahoga County Courthouse in Cleveland, Ohio (along with a flanking sculpture of Alexander 

Hamilton, also by Bitter), and at Jefferson’s university, the University of Virginia (a modified, 

smaller version of the Missouri work).238 Bitter is said to have been the first artist to have attempted 

a major portrait of Jefferson since his death in 1826.239 Bitter also created a sculpture of Henry 

Hudson now located in Henry Hudson Park, Bronx, New York.240 
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Sculpture of Thomas Jefferson by Karl Bitter, 

circa 1905. Karl Theodore Francis Bitter papers. 

Archives of American Art, Smithsonian 

Institution. 

 
 
 
 

Photo of Karl Bitter and the model for his sculpture of 

Alexander Hamilton. This sculpture and another by 

Bitter of Thomas Jefferson (1909-1911) flank the 

entrance to the Cuyahoga County Courthouse, Cleveland, 

Ohio. Karl Theodore Francis Bitter papers. Archives of 

American Art, Smithsonian Institution. 
 

 

 

https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory
https://www.facebook.com/NYLegalHistory


78 
 

 

 

The Villard Memorial (1904) by Karl Bitter at the 

cemetery at Sleepy Hollow, New York. Courtesy of 

Wikimedia Commons. 
 

 

 

Sculpture of Dr. William Pepper (1896), Provost of the 

University of Pennsylvania and founder of the Free Library 

of Philadelphia, by Karl Bitter. Courtesy of Wikimedia 

Commons. 
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Other noteworthy commissions are the full-scale relief of Dr. Henry Tappan, President of 

the University of Michigan, and full sculptures of Dr. William Pepper at the University of 

Pennsylvania and Dr. Andrew White at Cornell; the Villard Memorial in Sleepy Hollow, New 

York; the equestrian statue of Civil War General Franz Sigel on Riverside Drive and 106th Street 

in New York City (the monument committee for which included Carl Schurz, in whose home the  

group met);241 and the Carl Schurz Memorial located at West 116th Street overlooking 

Morningside Park in New York City.242 Bitter selected the impressive sites for both the Sigel and 

Schurz monuments, which he was not always able to do with his commissions. Bitter worked on 

the Dewey Triumphal Arch on Fifth Avenue at 24th Street in New York City in 1899 along with 

colleagues from the National Sculpture Society, including Charles Lamb, one of its founding 

members, who designed the arch.243 The Breckenridge Memorial by Bitter is a tablet at the United 

States Naval Academy commemorating an ensign lost at sea in the Spanish-American War. A 

number of Bitter’s works are in the Metropolitan Museum, including the All Angels’ church pulpit 

and choir rail (1900), which is on display in the great atrium of the Museum’s singularly important 

American Wing.244 

Bitter also spent much time in promoting sculpture at important expositions. He worked on 

sculpture groups at the Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1893. His creativity and skill at the 

administration of large projects became well-known in the profession and, together with the 

general advancement of his career and accomplishments, led to leading roles at three subsequent 

expositions. He served as the director of sculpture at the Pan American Exposition in Buffalo, New 

York of 1901.245 He was chosen for this position by a unanimous vote of his peers at the National 

Sculpture Society, a high honor reflective of the respect in which he was held in the profession.246 

The architects’ plan for the exposition specified how much sculpture should be employed and the 
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relative size of the various groups, but it was left to Bitter to determine the subjects and designs 

for all of the many works that would be used. He decided not just the general themes for the 

sculpture, but the subjects for each subordinate group, and he contributed some work of his own 

as well.247 

In 1904, Bitter again served as the director of the department of sculpture at the St. Louis 

Exposition, at which the Louisiana Purchase was celebrated, which position required him to design 

the sculpture theme for the exposition, assign the work to groups of sculptors, evaluate their 

performances, and supervise the enlargement and placement of each group. This was a massive 

undertaking since there were some 250 groups and over 1,500 single figures to be completed and 

installed, all within a matter of months. To do this work, Bitter established an enlarging shop in 

Weehawken and had shipped from there to St. Louis 54 railcar loads of full-scale sculpture in 

staff.248 He was also the director of sculpture for the 1915 Panama-Pacific International Exposition 

in San Francisco. 
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Bitter had a serious interest in improving the 

artistic patrimony of the cityscape and rendering it 

more aesthetically pleasing for the benefit of all 

citizens, particularly as New York City grew in size 

and prosperity. This no doubt explains his service 

(without pay) beginning in 1912 on the Art 

Commission of the City of New York, which was 

established in 1898, and of which he was twice chosen 

a member. He wrote an extensive article on the subject 

of sculpture in urban settings, arguing that attention 

needed to be paid to the employment of suitable 

sculpture to enhance the public and aesthetic life of the 

city, including use, carefully planned, of “a definite 

program or system which would bring about an aesthetic and harmonious development of [all 

large] public squares.”249 In the article, he discussed the potentialities of many leading public areas 

in the city, such as Battery Park and Washington Square Park, and the weaknesses of the current 

state of those spaces. One of the areas about which he was particularly concerned over many years 

was Fifth Avenue between 58th and 60th Streets and the entrance to Central Park. Inspired by the 

Place de la Concorde in Paris, he advocated that the entire area needed to be addressed by a 

comprehensive plan that would create an impressive space suited to the importance of the area and 

he sketched a design for the kind of thing he had in mind. He made a presentation on this subject 

to the National Sculpture Society, which appeared in print.250 His interest in the Plaza area led to 

his involvement in the planning for the Pulitzer Fountain outside the Plaza Hotel, so-named 

Karl Bitter, 1912. Published in Karl Bitter: A 

Biography by Ferdinand Schevill (1917). 
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because the funding for the project was left by Joseph Pulitzer in his will. Bitter was chosen to 

create the figure that stands atop the fountain, Pomona, the goddess of Abundance. The scale model 

of this figure was the last work touched by Bitter before his death. 

Among the honors he received in his career were the silver medal of the Paris Exposition 

in 1900, the gold medal of the Pan-American Exposition of 1901, a gold medal at Philadelphia in 

1902, and the gold medal of the St. Louis Exposition in 1904.251 

He was three times elected President of the National Sculpture Society;252 was a member 

of the National Institute of Arts and Sciences, the National Academy of Design, the American 

Academy of Arts and Letters, the Players’ Club, and the Century Club; and served as an officer of 

the Architectural League.253 His tenure on the Art Commission is interesting and ironic in that the 

Commission and its successor played important roles in the story of the Foster Memorial, as will 

be noted below.254 

Bitter’s Carl Schurz Memorial has a connection to Foley Square, 60 Centre Street, and the 

old Five Points neighborhood where Mrs. Foster worked, inasmuch as city planner and 

preservationist George McAneny (1869-1953), who is given great credit for the movement of the 

New York civic center north of Chambers Street, and the development of Foley Square and of 60 

Centre Street itself, was a protégé of Carl Schurz, who, let us recall, had been an active supporter 

of Bitter’s Franz Sigel equestrian statue. McAneny was a friend of Bitter, worked with him on the 

Schurz Memorial project, and spoke about him at the memorial given after his death. McAneny 

recalled “the pains, the infinite pains, that [Bitter] took with [the Schurz Memorial] and his feeling 

from the beginning that here was an opportunity to preserve every trace … to give the form and 

features of the man who had meant so much to those who had, like [Bitter himself] had, come 

across the seas and found their opportunity in America …”255 McAneny was certainly correct 
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about the pains that Bitter took with this project: the planning and execution of the Schurz 

monument occupied him over the course of five years.256 

The movement of the civic center 

north of Chambers Street advocated by 

McAneny had as an aim the elimination of 

the blighted area of the Five Points and its 

replacement by what are today multiple state 

courthouses, including the Supreme Court, 

Civil Branch, New York County, and three 

Federal courthouses, as well as other state 

and Federal office buildings.257 When the 

Daniel Patrick Moynihan Federal 

Courthouse at 500 Pearl Street was being 

developed (it opened in 1996), an 

archaeological excavation was undertaken 

by the General Services Administration. The basements of many tenements of the former Five 

Points neighborhood were located and over 850,000 19th century artifacts were uncovered, 

including everyday household items. After construction was completed, some of these artifacts 

were put on display in an exhibition in the new courthouse. The immigrants and other 

impoverished residents of the Five Points would surely have been amazed had they known that 

such an exhibition could ever take place. This coda to the history of the Five Points, once visited 

by Dickens, Jacob Riis, and other worthies, the center of much of the work of Theodore Roosevelt 

and his police officers and of Mrs. Foster, intersected with another critical moment in the history 

The Criminal Courts Building, 1914. Irma and Paul Milstein 

Division of United States History, Local History and 

Genealogy, The New York Public Library. 
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of New York City: after the exhibition closed, the artifacts were moved for safekeeping to the 

basement of 6 World Trade Center and almost all of them (all but a few from some Irish tenements 

and a saloon that were on loan elsewhere) were there destroyed on September 11, 2001.258 

The monument to honor the work and memory of Mrs. Foster that was produced by Bitter 

and Lamb was a wall mounting approximately seven feet high consisting of an elaborate, 

renaissance-style bronze frame, a marble medallion at the top bearing the likeness of Mrs. Foster, 

and, in the center, a large marble relief of an angel, the focal element to the composition and an 

allusion, of course, to Mrs. Foster’s unofficial title, “the Tombs Angel,” to which no express 

reference was made on the memorial. The winged angel supports a young boy in need by the 

shoulders from the rear and appears to be speaking words of hope and encouragement to him. 

Bitter created the medallion and the relief.259 He may have designed the frame as well since the 

model from his studio included the frame in plaster.260 The relief was signed by Bitter (in Latin, 

“Karl T.F. Bitter, Conceived and Executed 1903”). Not on the relief but underneath it on the frame 

were Mrs. Foster’s name and dates and the words, very apt ones, “On Her Lips Was The Law of 

Kindness.”261 
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A close-up of the portrait of Mrs. Foster in the 

model for the Foster Memorial. Karl Theodore 

Francis Bitter papers. Archives of American Art, 

Smithsonian Institution. 
 

 

 

A photograph of the Angel relief for the Foster 

Memorial (circa 1903), from the studio files of Karl 

Bitter. Karl Theodore Francis Bitter papers. 

Archives of American Art, Smithsonian Institution. 
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A photograph of the plaster model of the Foster Memorial (circa 1903), 

from the studio files of Karl Bitter. This photograph may be of the model 

on display at the Annual Exhibition at the Architectural League of New 

York in 1906. Karl Theodore Francis Bitter papers. Archives of American 

Art, Smithsonian Institution. 
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The Foster Memorial was publicly unveiled by Karl Bitter himself in a ceremony at the 

City Club on January 1, 1904 that was attended by Mrs. Foster’s two daughters262 and a photograph 

of the Memorial appeared in a newspaper around the same time.263 The installation of the 

monument took place in 1904 in the Criminal Courts Building, Court of Special Sessions, across 

Franklin Street from the site of the original Tombs Prison and that of its successor.264 The initial 

plan had been to install the tribute in one of the courtrooms, but at the suggestion of the judges it 

had been decided instead to place it in a heavily-trafficked hallway, no doubt so that the public 

could more readily see it.265 An installation ceremony was apparently held in April 1904,266 

undoubtedly attended by Mrs. Foster’s daughters, judges, members of the Bar, and the staff of the 

courts. In 1906, Bitter presented what evidently was a model or the drawings for the Foster 

Memorial at an annual exhibition of the Architectural League of New York.267 

In the years after the installation of the Foster Memorial, the career of Karl Bitter continued 

to flourish and his influence within his profession continued to grow. But then, life linked him 

again to Mrs. Foster and her fate, in a different and tragic way. 

In 1903, while Bitter may have been at work on the Memorial, he was traveling in a horse-

drawn carriage in Manhattan when the horse bolted. The carriage overturned and he was thrown 

out in the street. Fortunately, he was unhurt.268 

In April 1915, however, as he and his wife were leaving the old Metropolitan Opera House 

and crossing Broadway, he was hit by a swerving automobile. He died the next day. It was a sad 

irony that an artist who had once sculpted a paean to the progress of transportation should meet 

such an end. His wife, Marie, survived without serious injury because he had pushed her out of the 

way at the last instant. As had been the case with Mrs. Foster, his last thought in the accident that 

took his life was of someone else.269 He was only 47 years old. 
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WHAT HAPPENED TO THE MEMORIAL 

 

 

Unfortunately, the Foster Memorial also endured a very sad fate, which forms a part of the 

larger record of neglect of the contributions of women in New York City. 

The Tombs Angel Monument, as originally installed in 1904. Collection of 

the Public Design Commission. 
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The impressive tribute to Mrs. Foster remained in the Criminal Courts Building for more 

than three decades. At some point, it was decided that new court facilities were needed. The 1894 

Criminal Courts Building was torn down and a new courthouse was erected in 1941. During the 

construction phase, the Foster monument was dismantled and eventually made its way into storage 

somewhere in the labyrinthian basement of the new court building at 100 Centre Street. In this 

process -- and it is extraordinarily disappointing to have to recount this -- the justice system and 

the courts for which Mrs. Foster had done so much during her lifetime proceeded to let her down: 

the monument was forgotten by those who ought to have protected it and restored it to public view. 

It is likely that court officials 40 years after her death did not have a clear idea what Mrs. Foster 

had done during her lifetime and did not bother to research the matter, did not consult with experts 

about the artistic importance of Karl Bitter’s work, failed to accord that work and Mrs. Foster’s 

memory the respect they deserved, and allowed themselves to be distracted by the press of daily 

obligations. The monument remained in storage as decades passed and was truly lost to the public 

during this time: a scholar writing about Karl Bitter’s work in 1967 reported that the location of 

the monument was unknown and that it had probably been destroyed when the Criminal Courts 

Building came down.270 Appropriate measures for the security of the monument were either not 

taken or allowed to atrophy. During this time, the elaborate bronze frame and the marble medallion 

likeness of Mrs. Foster were stolen, lost, or discarded. Ironically, then, the woman who had 

devoted her life to helping those accused and those convicted of crime, as well as the courts, was 

victimized after her death by official neglect and perhaps by thievery. Probably the only reason 

the marble relief of the ministering angel was not stolen or cast aside into the trash was because it 

was too heavy (perhaps 900 pounds) to cart away. There comes inevitably to mind the question 
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whether, had the monument been in honor of a man instead of a woman, it would have been treated 

so shabbily. 

In 1983, the Art Commission of the City of New York (now known as the New York City 

Public Design Commission), the group on which, as noted earlier, Karl Bitter had served, 

undertook a citywide survey of art owned by the City. It was during that survey that the Bitter 

marble relief of the angel was discovered in the basement of 100 Centre Street and the loss of the 

frame and the medallion was noted. When found, the relief was in a serious state of disrepair: a 

large corner piece had broken off and was lying on the ground adjacent to the rest of the relief, 

and, as significant or more so, the white marble was seriously stained by oil and grease.271 

An application to remove and repair the relief was submitted to the Art Commission in 

October 1988 for its approval.272 The proposal recited that, because the memorial had been 

severely damaged and remain endangered at the courthouse at 100 Centre Street, the Art 

Commission, with the cooperation of the Department of General Services (now the Department of 

Citywide Administrative Services) and the Metropolitan Museum of Art, had had it transferred to 

the Museum. The Museum had agreed to undertake the cleaning and repair. 

Attached to the application was a “treatment proposal” prepared by a conservator from the 

Metropolitan Museum.273 The conservator observed that, “[a]s has been noted by all who have 

seen it, the Foster Memorial [which was really, of course, only the surviving portion thereof] is 

presently in a severe state of disrepair. The chips and major breaks are significant but can 

ultimately be rectified. The greater problem lies with the extensive oil discoloration, the 

permanency of which will not be ascertainable until a course of cleaning is undertaken.” The 

conservator went on to describe the steps he recommended to conserve the relief, including 

applying various solutions and affixing the broken corner (with brass dowels and epoxy, etc.). 
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The application form indicated that the Department of General Services would be 

responsible for securing funding necessary for the construction of a new frame. By “new frame,” 

the writers meant a reproduction of, or something similar to, the original bronze frame as shown 

in photographs. There was no suggestion made as to reproducing the likeness of Mrs. Foster. 

As to a proposed location for the relief once the conservation of it had been completed, the 

preparers of the form wrote that “[s]everal specific site options in the lobby of [the Supreme Court 

of the State of New York, Civil Branch, New York County Courthouse,] 60 Centre Street will be 

discussed with the Art Commission,” and several possible sites in the lobby were listed, including 

the one that was eventually settled on many years later, as we describe hereafter. Of course, in 

order for the relief to be placed in the lobby, some means would be required to display it securely 

and in an artistically suitable manner. 

The Commission approved the request in November 1988. The approval given was 

“preliminary,” and was “subject to a committee review of a frame, which is appropriate and 

reminiscent of the original.” Approval was given with the understanding that the relief would be 

placed in the main vestibule of the Supreme Court at 60 Centre Street.274 The restoration work was 

performed at the Metropolitan Museum. 

It appears that no funds were ever collected to cover the cost of a frame. In any event, no 

frame, whether a reproduction of the original or a purely functional stand, was created at this time. 
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THE FOSTER FAMILY AND 

A HOME FOR THE MARBLE RELIEF 

 

 

When the marble relief 

was delivered to the 60 Centre 

Street courthouse upon the 

completion of the Metropolitan 

Museum’s conservation work, 

it was covered in cloth and 

placed upright on a wooden 

dolly. The dolly was consigned, 

for what was intended to be a 

modest period, to a storage area 

off the Courthouse’s grand rotunda in one of 60 Centre Street’s converted elevator shafts. No 

action was taken to follow up on the Art Commission’s requirement that a frame be reviewed by 

a committee. The relief presented a serious challenge for the court as, lacking a stand or frame, it 

could not be safely and respectfully exhibited. Significant intervention was required to remedy the 

situation, but there were no funds on hand at the courthouse to pay for what it would take to do so 

and little experience on the part of the court with the displaying of heavy art objects. The surviving 

piece of the tribute to Mrs. Foster thus remained where it had been placed for almost the next 30 

years, amidst podiums, sound speakers, maintenance equipment, and such pedestrian fare. 

The Foster family had certainly never forgotten about Mrs. Foster and the memorial. One 

of Mrs. Foster’s sisters, Lila Elizabeth Elliott (Mrs. Charles R. Duff), for instance, had assembled 

(circa 1904) a formidable scrapbook of newspaper clippings about her sister and her work. Lila’s 

The monument in 2021. Photographed by John F. Werner. 
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granddaughter, thus Mrs. Foster’s grandniece, Jeremy Ann Brown, had been fascinated as a child 

by the contents of the scrapbook, which eventually came into her custody, and by the story of her 

great aunt reflected in that scrapbook. 

By the early 2000’s, Ms. Brown was wondering what had ever happened to the monument 

and undertook some informal investigations to try to discover its fate and where it might be located 

if it had survived. 

Jeremy had been the victim of an attack by an individual who had been paroled from the 

Pennsylvania prison system. (It is a sad irony indeed that such a thing should have happened to a 

relative of a woman who, a century before, had so devoted herself to helping and rehabilitating 

detainees of the original Tombs prison.)275 Subsequently, Governor George Pataki appointed 

Jeremy to the New York State Commission on Judicial Conduct, which weighs complaints against 

judges. While on the Commission, she asked Gerald Stern, Esq., then-Administrator of the 

Commission on Judicial Conduct, and Robert Tembeckjian, Esq., then-Clerk or Counsel to the 

Commission, whom she might approach to inquire about what had become of the tribute to her 

great aunt. Stern and Tembeckjian referred her to the Honorable Norman Goodman, the long-

serving County Clerk of New York County, since they knew that he had familiarity with the courts 

in Manhattan. Stern, Tembeckjian, and Jeremy were entirely unaware at this time where the 

monument might be. Jeremy contacted Mr. Goodman and met with him in his office at the New 

York County Courthouse in or about 2006. A representative of the Public Design Commission was 

also in attendance. It was Mr. Goodman who informed Jeremy that only a portion of the original 

monument was in existence, i.e., the marble relief by Karl Bitter, and that the surviving portion 

was in storage in the very building in which they were meeting, 60 Centre Street. 
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John Werner, who had been employed at 60 Centre 

Street since 1970 and who became the Chief Clerk of the 

Supreme Court, Civil Branch in 1989, was at some point 

informed that the Bitter relief was at 60 Centre Street in 

storage, but he was not advised of the history of the 

monument to Mrs. Foster, nor the work and the life that it 

had been created to honor. One day in or about 2008, more 

than 100 years after the Foster Memorial had first been 

unveiled, Mr. Werner paid a visit to the office of Mr. 

Goodman, and chanced upon a meeting that was underway 

the subject of which was the monument to Mrs. Foster. 

Included among the group present were representatives of 

the Department of Citywide Administrative Services, the 

Municipal Art Society, and the Public Design Commission, and a person Mr. Werner understood 

to be a grandniece of Mrs. Foster. Mr. Werner had not been invited to the meeting, but the subject 

was of interest to him, so he simply joined the meeting, an action with which he knew that Mr. 

Goodman would be comfortable. At the conclusion of the meeting, the group toured the rotunda 

and the entrance lobby of the courthouse and the consensus of the group was that, if the tribute 

could be restored to public view, it should be placed in a niche in the entrance lobby on the right-

hand side, one of the sites recommended, unbeknownst to the group, so many years before. Of 

course, these difficult questions remained: How could the relief be displayed safely, effectively, 

and in a manner that would be artistically appropriate? How could a frame or support be created 

The monument in 2021. Photographed by 

John F. Werner. 
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(which obviously is not a subject with which a court normally deals)? And how would the display 

be paid for? 

Mr. Werner made no notes at the meeting inasmuch as he had just happened by.  All who 

attended that meeting went their separate ways to address the many tasks facing them. There was 

no further discussion for years thereafter of restoring the tribute to Mrs. Foster to public view. In 

April of 2014, Mr. Werner, wondering what had become of Mrs. Foster’s grandniece and her 

interest in the surviving portion of the monument to her great aunt, asked Mr. Goodman if he had 

the name of Mrs. Foster’s grandniece, which Mr. Werner did not recall (if he had ever been 

informed of it at the time of the meeting), and contact information for her. Mr. Goodman said he 

did not have any contact information, but he seemed to remember that her surname was “Brown.” 

Twenty or so years before, that would have been the end of the search, but Mr. Werner then 

googled “Brown” and “Tombs Angel” and a posting from some years earlier came up with an e-

mail address for “Jeremy Brown.” Mr. Werner then sent an e-mail to that address inquiring whether 

any information was available about the relative of Mrs. Foster who had visited 60 Centre Street 

years before inquiring about the 1904 tribute. It had not occurred to Mr. Werner that “Jeremy 

Brown” might be a woman! Within the day, Mr. Werner received an e-mail reply from Jeremy, 

who identified herself as the person who had participated in the meeting in Mr. Goodman’s office 

in 2008. From the day of those e-mail exchanges onward, Jeremy Brown and Mr. Werner worked 

together in an effort to return the tribute to Mrs. Foster to public view at 60 Centre Street. 
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The effort to restore the 

Bitter relief to public view was 

a lengthy and complicated 

process. It was also, however, a 

collaborative process, among 

the Public Design 

Commission’s Keri Butler; the 

Municipal Art Society’s Phyllis 

Cohen; Lana Kim of the 

Department of Citywide 

Administrative Services (“DCAS”); Ottavino Stone Corp.’s Kate Ottavino; the Supreme Court, 

Civil Branch, New York County; and, of course, Jeremy Ann Brown on behalf of the Foster family. 

Substantial effort was put into investigating and considering the relative merits, including the 

practicality, of the options that might be available to display in a secure and appropriately dignified 

manner the large and very heavy carving. Eventually, it was decided that a stand that could 

accommodate the weight of the relief and that would be designed in such a way as not to distract 

the viewer’s attention from the artwork would be crafted by the Ottavino Stone Corporation. 

Ottavino would also perform some further restoration work funded by DCAS. The Municipal Art 

Society was able to obtain funding for the stand for the marble relief through a generous grant 

from the Porzelt Foundation. 

The relief was moved from the courthouse to the Ottavino firm. The restoration work was 

conducted under the direction of conservator Kate Ottavino and consisted of cleaning the piece 

and replacing some of the fills/patches in cracks that had deteriorated with the passage of time.276 

The New York County Courthouse, 60 Centre Street (1927). Photographed by 

John F. Werner, 2021. 
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The stand was built and delivered to the Supreme Court at 60 Centre Street in 2019. It was then 

installed in the niche in the vestibule that had been selected previously. The relief was returned to 

the courthouse and placed on the stand, a challenging process that, because of the great weight of 

the carving, involved the use of hoists and scaffolding. 

Not long afterward, in June 2019, the 

relief was rededicated in a public ceremony in 

the beautiful and historic rotunda of the 

Supreme Court building at 60 Centre, a program 

that celebrated Mrs. Foster, her decades of work 

on behalf of the poor and imprisoned, and Karl 

Bitter, while expressing gratitude to the Public 

Design Commission, DCAS, the Municipal Art 

Society, and the Porzelt Foundation for the 

critical assistance they had provided. The 

installation and rededication of the long-lost 

relief were the subject of a number of articles in 

various publications,277 including one on the 

first page of the “Arts” section of the New York 

Times that included a large and lovely photograph of the relief.278 A very large crowd, standing 

room only, attended the ceremony. Jeremy Ann Brown, her grandmother’s scrapbook in hand, 

spoke at the event and members of her family were in attendance to witness, finally, after 115 

years and such sad misfortune, the return to public view of the surviving portion of the monument. 

(Thanks to the generosity of Jeremy Brown and the Foster family, the scrapbook has now been 

The Tombs Angel Monument, as installed in 2019. A 

rededication ceremony was held on June 25, 2019, and is 

available for viewing on the Historical Society of the New 

York Courts’ website (history.nycourts.gov). Photo 

courtesy of the authors. 
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donated to the archives of the Public Design Commission.) Two scholars gave presentations that 

provided important and interesting context. Professor Jon Ritter of New York University presented 

an appreciation of the marble relief and discussed Karl Bitter and his artistic importance.279 Robert 

Pigott, Esq., an author with a scholarly interest in the history of New York City and its buildings, 

described, including through the use of period photographs, the original Tombs and its immediate 

successor, the courts of the period, and the surroundings in which Mrs. Foster went about her 

work.280 Given Mrs. Foster’s long connection to the church and the central role it had played in 

her life, it was fitting that the current rector of Calvary Church, the Rev. Jacob Smith, and its 

archivist, Eric Stedfeld, were in attendance as well.281 

Karl Bitter had the capacity, through his skill and the creativity of his designs, to infuse 

much emotional power into his sculpture. This is evident, for example, in his moving Villard 

Memorial in Sleepy Hollow, as well as in the Crane Tablet, which may have been inspired by the 

Foster carving.282 Although unfortunately we cannot today feel the full impact of the Foster 

Memorial as it was when Bitter created it, the surviving portion exhibits that emotional power, 

especially when one knows the story of the Tombs Angel and why the carving depicts an angel 

helping a young person in trouble. As one writer at the time who knew Bitter wrote, “[t]here is 

much sentiment … in such a work as his tablet in recognition of the self-sacrificing life among the 

unfortunates and erring of Mrs. Rebecca Foster, ‘The Tombs Angel,’ for the Criminal Courts 

Building, New York.”283 
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The landmark Tweed Courthouse, 52 Chambers Street 

(completed 1881). The building is two blocks south of 

today's Foley Square and several blocks from the site of 

the original Tombs Prison. Photographed by John F. 

Werner, 2021. 

This landmark building (1895), on Lafayette Street 

at White Street, was the firehouse of Engine 

Company 31. The building was situated across 

Lafayette from the old Criminal Courts Building 

(1894), a short distance from the original Tombs 

Prison. Photographed by John F. Werner, 2021. 
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A view of part of today's Manhattan 

Detention Complex, located on White 

Street near the site of the original Tombs 

Prison. The Complex is still referred to 

informally as “the Tombs.” 

Photographed by John F. Werner, 2021. 

A photograph of the Five Points 

intersection as it looks today. The view is 

taken from Baxter Street looking at 

Worth Street to the south and at the 

Worth Street entrance to the Daniel 

Patrick Moynihan United States Federal 

Courthouse. Located only feet away to 

the right of this courthouse is the New 

York County Courthouse, 60 Centre 

Street. Photographed by John F. Werner, 

2021. 
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A view of the west side of Centre Street 

looking to the north showing today's 

Collect Pond Park on the site of which 

was located the original Tombs Prison. 

To the left in this photo can be seen the 

New York Family Court on Lafayette 

Street and, to the right, the New York 

City Civil Court Building at 111 Centre 

Street. The old Criminal Courts Building 

was located where the latter is today. 

Photographed by John F. Werner, 2021. 

A photograph of the Five Points 

intersection as it looks today. The view is 

taken from Worth Street looking up 

Baxter Street to the north. Photographed 

by John F. Werner, 2021.  
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This landmark building, 346 Broadway 

(between Catherine Lane and Leonard 

Street), was formerly the New York Life 

Insurance Company Building (completed 

1894-99). The rear of the building is on 

the west side of Lafayette Street catty-

corner from the site of the original 

Tombs Prison. Photographed by John F. 

Werner, 2021. 

An entrance to Collect Pond Park on 

Centre Street. The New York Life 

Building and the Family Court can be 

seen across the park. Photographed by 

John F. Werner, 2021. 
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The Manhattan Criminal Courts 

Building, 100 Centre Street (completed 

1941), located across Centre Street from 

the site of the original Tombs Prison. 

Photographed by John F. Werner, 2021. 

An interior view of Collect Pond Park. 

Photographed by John F. Werner, 2021. 
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It is said that timing is everything, and so it sometimes appears. During the two years or so 

before the rededication of the Foster memorial, the New York Times had run a series of articles and 

op-ed columns about the dearth of tributes in New York City and beyond to women deserving of 

recognition, in contrast with the countless monuments to deserving, and not so deserving, men.284 

Thus, the timing of the restoration to public view of the surviving portion of the Foster Memorial 

could not have been more appropriate. Here we have a marble relief, a work of art that is impressive 

on its own terms, from a very rare historical monument to a woman, one who, during an important 

and difficult period in New York City’s history, through her extraordinary energy and dedication 

and the power of her compassion, made great contributions to the City, the system of justice, the 

development of the values they hold dear, and the City’s inhabitants, especially prisoners, their 

families, immigrants and the poorest and most abandoned, and who, by her actions, offered a 

pathway, in many ways a visionary and groundbreaking one, by which society might reclaim to a 

decent and productive life those who have fallen afoul of its laws. Finally, after so much trouble, 

the surviving portion of the memorial to the Tombs Angel had found a permanent home. It can be 

hoped that, today and far into the future, many will view the surviving relief of the ministering 

angel and admire it for its beauty and the depth of feeling it conveys through the fine hand of Karl 

Bitter, will remember the life and work of the Tombs Angel, as had been the intention of all those 

who donated in 1902 to make the memorial possible, and will perhaps even be inspired to go forth 

and put into practice in their own ways the law of kindness by which Mrs. Foster lived. 
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John F. Werner, Esq. was the Chief Clerk and Executive Officer (1989-2019) of the Supreme 
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1 Until 2020, the only statues in the parks and public squares of New York City honoring historical women were of 
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